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      Praise for Arthur Miller

      
      
      ‘This is a compelling account of a great life and wonderfully crafted, weaving literature with fact, including many unpublished
         short stories. Along the way we acquire so much more, with a fascinating and particular insight into House UnAmerican Activities
         Committee. The definitive 20th century life, brilliantly chronicled by the man best qualified to write it’ Patricia Hodge
      

      
      ‘As he analyses the life, the author goes into remarkable detail based on years of research, to come to conclusions about
         the life of a man who at his best was perhaps the greatest American playwright of the last fifty years, or possibly ever .
         . . By the end, you almost wonder whether Bigsby understands Miller better than he knew himself’
      

      
      The British Theatre Guide

      
      ‘Bigsby eschew academic pontification for a scrupulously researched yet rivetingly readable account . . . If it stretched
         to another 739 pages, that would be fine by me’   The Times

      
      ‘This is a fat, endlessly informative book, the work of a lifetime . . . it is as definitive as we are likely to get, with
         plenty of new material’
      

      
      Sunday Times

      
      ‘Christopher Bigsby’s lengthy, sympathetic study contains electrifying new perspectives on the subject’   Observer

      
      ‘Christopher Bigsby’s . . . meteor-sized biography . . . is crammed with piquant details’   The New York Times

      
      ‘Bigsby has produced a thorough book that is unlikely to be surpassed in its wealth of detail’   Mail on Sunday

      
      ‘Bigsby has a perfect ear for the manners and motions of Miller’s art, and he tells a gripping story of Miller’s hunt of truth
         . . . terrific’
      

      
      London Review of Books

      
      ‘Bigsby, with the help of previously unseen documents given to him by Miller before the playwright’s death in 2005, brings
         the man to life . . . A wonderful biography’   Irish Examiner

      
      ‘A fine biography’   Literary Review

      
      ‘A feature of this encyclopaedic study of the first half of Miller’s life is the excellence of the writing and trans-Atlantic
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      PREFACE

      
      
      This is the story of a writer, but it is also the story of America. For Arthur Miller, his dramatic model was always the classical
         Greek theatre, where a society could engage with its myths, its animating principles. The theatre was and is a public art,
         a present-tense art where the audience shares the same moment as those on stage who act out private passions but do so in
         a public context. For him that symbiosis was reflected in a favourite metaphor. As he was fond of saying, ‘the fish is in
         the water and the water is in the fish’. It follows that to understand him and his work it is necessary to explore the forces
         that shaped him, the ideas that he propounded or with which he did battle. For him, son of an immigrant, born into wealth
         but who watched it disappear in 1929, the key events were the Depression, the Spanish Civil War, the Second World War and
         the Cold War. They dominated his mind and influenced his writing. So they do in this book whose byways, I hope, lead back
         to the central subject – a writer who America celebrated but who found himself rejected, threatened with imprisonment, declared
         Un-American.
      

      
      At the beginning of his career he thought that art could change the world. Later, he was less sure. He remained certain, however,
         that it had to acknowledge that the individuals whose lives he staged existed in the world. Their private passions might drive
         them but they were exemplary in so far as they were in part the product of the values they absorbed, even if they stood ready
         to challenge or even betray them.
      

      
      Like many of his generation, he embraced Marxism, believing the capitalist dream to have been exposed by history. He held
         to that dream longer than many, responding to what seemed, to him, to be the lack of transcendence of a system which valued
         the material over the spiritual, which turned its back on history as though that were an article of faith for those taught
         to pursue happiness, if never quite hold it in its grasp. To him, individually and collectively, we are responsible for our
         lives. He responded to Ibsen because he found in his work a central truth. Past actions have present consequences. The chickens,
         Miller was apt to say, always come home to roost. If it were not so, the spine of morality would be snapped. It is certainly
         the strategy of his drama but it is something more than that. It is an assertion of his central faith. How, then, to understand such a writer
         unless we move back in time, explore passions which now seem inexplicable, convictions seemingly invalidated by time or perhaps
         simply swept away as so many inconvenient truths? This is, however, a study of a writer and I have endeavoured to offer an
         analysis of his principal works.
      

      
      This book primarily concerns itself with the first half of his life for that was when he was being shaped, when he began his
         conversations with America, when, no matter his later doubts, he did, indeed, change the world and continues to do so. For
         his plays are performed every day of every year to those remote from America but who discover within them human truths easily
         translated from language to language, culture to culture. His conversation, it seems, was not so parochial. He spoke and still
         speaks to the world.
      

   



      
      1

      
      FROM HARLEM TO BROOKLYN

      
      
      
         We are formed in this world when we are sons and daughters and the first truths we know throw us into conflict with our fathers
            and mothers. The struggle for mastery – for the freedom of manhood or womanhood – is the struggle not only to overthrow authority
            but to reconstitute it anew.
         

         Arthur Miller1

         I would venture to say, the garment industry in this century has given birth to more writers, scholars, critics, and professors
            than any other American profession.
         

         Mark Schechner2

      

      
      Arthur Miller’s story begins in the shtetl: Radomizl. It begins with those who decided to leave the known for the unknown, in search of safety and fortune. In the years
         between the assassination of Alexander II, in 1881 (which was followed by pogroms and the destruction of synagogues), and
         the outbreak of war in 1914, one-third of East European Jews left their homes and migrated. As the then head of the Russian
         Synod, and friend of Dostoevsky, remarked, ‘One-third will die, one-third will leave the country, and the last third will
         be completely assimilated within the Russian people.’3 For the Jew, the first priority was to survive, but assimilation, even if possible, was not survival. Separation had always
         been a destiny and a fate.
      

      
      Two million people moved west, partly from fear of persecution, partly to escape destitution and partly because they saw a
         better future away from the villages and small towns that had defined their existence. Sometimes they went first into the
         major cities – Warsaw, Lodz, Minsk – but there was little respite there, little prospect of improvement. So they moved on.
         An active debate began as to whether this exodus should become official Jewish policy. In his study of the immigrant Jews
         of New York, Irving Howe recalls the 1882 conference of ‘Jewish notables’ in St Petersburg that discussed this question. On
         the one hand were those who declared: ‘Pogroms are a result of rightlessness and when they have been obviated the attendant
         evils will vanish with it.’ On the other, the minority, were those who insisted: ‘Either we get civil rights or we emigrate.’4

      
      In the end, though, public declarations meant very little. People made their own decisions. Architects have a word for pathways
         worn down by people who ignore those thoughtfully provided by city planners and designers, instead following their own whims
         and necessities. They are called ‘lines of desire’. Those who chose to leave the country of their birth, whatever the pressures
         to remain, followed lines of desire. There are lines like that in America, still visible a century and a half after wagon
         wheels wore grooves in rocks as people moved on in search of gold, land, or simply unbounded freedom. Those worn down by immigrants
         are no less real for being invisible. In 1880 there were 230,000 Jews in America. By 1900 the figure was over a million. In
         1917 the figure was 3,389,000.
      

      
      Individuals would abandon their families and step into the unknown. Sometimes entire villages would band together and set
         out by cart, train and ship on a journey to a country they knew only by report and whose language was a mystery. A people
         rooted in the past opted for the future, sure only that it would be better. There was, it seemed, a place of hope. Howe quotes
         one immigrant to that distant country who arrived in New York in 1891 as declaring: ‘America was in everybody’s mouth.’ In
         1880 there were just 14,000 Russian Jews in New York; thirty years later there were nearly half a million.5 In the words of a lullaby:
      

      
      
         Your daddy’s in America, little son of mine.

         But you are just a child now so hush and go to sleep.

         America is for everyone, they say, it’s the greatest piece of luck.

         For Jews, it’s a garden of Eden, a rare and precious place.

         People there eat challah in the middle of the week.6

      

      
      They carried their God with them but for some He would be lost along the way or abandoned, on arrival, in the clamour of a
         society in which ambition and material advance constituted the axial lines. A tension was thereby created between one generation
         and another. One set about the business of recreating the world they had left behind, with its schuls, ritual observances,
         Yiddish newspapers; the other threw itself into the new life, anxious to claim the possibilities and identity offered by a
         strange but seemingly welcoming country. As a result fault lines opened up not only between the past and the present but within
         families whose alliances began to shift, whose sense of identity derived from different experiences. The role of victim no
         longer seemed appropriate to a free society. Children married ‘out’. Forgetting, it seemed to some, was more important than
         remembering, when to remember meant to preserve a sense of shame and suffering along with tradition. Miller and his family
         would enact such a process, while in his work he would inhabit those contradictions – this man who not once but three times married out of the faith.
      

      
      To join another society is to be invited to embrace its values, to share its myths. For the Jew, however, there was another
         history, there were other myths, and from the negotiation between the two would be born a life and a literature. At times,
         as the Jewish writer emerged as a major voice in America, he seemed a paradigm of the modern sensibility, simultaneously within
         and without, alienated but wishing to be accommodated. Yet in a society for which the past exists merely to be transcended
         or reinvented as romantic fable, the weight of history, the sheer particularity of experience, could be lost in a celebration
         of a supposed new self. And that particularity remained, that memory, that awareness that the threat could never be said to
         have wholly disappeared.
      

      
      This was a time, in New York, when horse railway carriages moved at five or six miles an hour and horse omnibuses forced their
         way through streets packed with people and past pedlars selling from handcarts, rented at ten cents a day and with an annual
         fee of a few dollars. Though such a mass of people would have been a shock after Radomizl, otherwise it was not such an unfamiliar
         world. There were synagogues. You could buy kosher food and go to the Yiddish theatre. This was an area already known as ‘Jewtown’,
         the title of a chapter in Jacob Riis’s How the Other Half Lives, published in 1890.
      

      
      Riis, a Danish immigrant, a photographer and journalist, offers an account of the tenements of New York when the Millers and
         Barnetts (Miller’s mother’s family) lived there, in the process revealing something of the prejudices that confronted incoming
         Jews from Eastern Europe: ‘No need of asking where we are,’ he explains, the ‘jargon of the streets, the signs of the sidewalk,
         the manner and dress of the people, their unmistakable physiognomy, betray their race at every step.’ He describes ‘men with
         queer skull caps, venerable beards, and the outlandish long-skirted kaftan of the Russian Jew’. The ‘oldest women’, he insists,
         ‘are hags; the young houris. Wives and mothers at sixteen, at thirty they are old. So thoroughly has the chosen people crowded
         out the Gentiles in the 10th Ward that, when the great Jewish holidays come around every year, the public schools in the district
         have practically to close up.’7

      
      Beyond that, though, he characterizes them as a race concerned with only one thing:

      
      
         Thrift is the watchword of Jewtown, as of its people the world over. It is at once its strength and its fatal weakness, its
            cardinal virtue and its foul disgrace. Become an overmastering passion with these people who come here in droves from Eastern
            Europe to escape persecution, from which freedom can only be bought with gold, it has enslaved them in bondage worse than
            that from which they fled. Money is their God. Life itself is of little value compared with even the leanest bank account. In no other
            spot does life wear so intensely bald and materialistic an aspect . . . Over and over again I have met with these Polish or
            Russian Jews deliberately starving themselves to the point of physical exhaustion, while working night and day at tremendous
            pressure to save a little money . . . As scholars, the children of the most ignorant Polish Jew keep fairly abreast of their
            more favored playmates, until it comes to mental arithmetic, when they leave them behind with a bound. It is surprising to
            see how strong the instinct of dollars and cents is in them. They can count, and correctly, almost before they can walk.8

      

      
      With little money, they had no choice but to work as many hours as possible. Living in squalor, they had to set themselves
         first to survive and then, slowly, to prosper. How else to escape the conditions that Riis describes. Their reputation as
         money-grubbers, however, stuck and years later Miller’s mother, Augusta, would find any discussion of money by her relatives
         repellent.
      

      
      Miller himself recalled a time when his aunt had asked him to drive her from her son Morton’s place to New York in the pouring
         rain. She was anxious to get home because she was afraid that the rent cheques from the property she owned might get wet if
         the postman failed to push them sufficiently far through the letterbox. She was a woman whose fierce concentration on money
         simultaneously fascinated and repelled.
      

      
      Arthur Miller was a child and grandchild of immigrants. Both his paternal and maternal grandfathers had come from the same
         Polish town of Radomizl, near Cracow (though two other Radomizls were suggested to him – the largest near Lublin – as possible
         alternatives, making the past more problematic, closer to myth than to history). This was then part of Austria-Hungary and
         Miller’s father was prone to describe himself as Austrian. Ross Miller, Arthur Miller’s nephew, has explored something of
         his family’s past:
      

      
      
         Radomizl . . . became part of Austria after the partition of Poland in the late eighteenth century . . . There were at least
            1,000 towns like the one my family is from. They all have a market square, synagogue square, shops and a street or two of
            abattoirs, warehouses and the most rudimentary sort of manufacturing facilities where artisans worked. Radomizl was an ‘urban’
            satellite of the local nobleman or magnate. Some Jews lived and worked directly on the estate. Most were innkeepers and distillers.
            The richest were ‘tax farmers’ who collected excise taxes and the like for the state. Radomizl was a ‘private’ town to distinguish
            it from royal towns and cities like Krakow. In Poland the king was weak, the noblemen strong.9

      

      
      
      The family name, long assumed to be Miller, now, following research by Mordecai Miller (the son of Arthur’s cousin, who met
         an elderly man who claimed to remember the family), seems likely to have been Mahler (the German form of the same name and
         also a reference to the trade of milling). Apparently the family made the name change as they set off to America. Miller,
         though, is a Polish name. Leszek Miller, for example, a communist before Solidarity brought about a revolution, rose to be
         leader of the Democratic Left Alliance and won a national election in 2001. Nonetheless, as it now seemed in retrospect, the
         less Germanic ‘Miller’ was perhaps thought more suitable to ease the transition into America, though in truth this was a country
         whose own identity was in a continuous state of reinvention.
      

      
      The Mahlers/Millers had travelled, precariously and apprehensively, from a deeply anti-Semitic Poland. They shared the double
         impulse of many such in that they were fleeing from and travelling to. The overriding impulse was to become, to forge a new
         identity. For some, that would mean the pursuit of success. It was so for Miller’s father, as it was for the playwright son
         of another immigrant family, David Mamet, who grew up in a household that seemed designed to obliterate memories of an immigrant
         past and where he was taught one thing – the need to succeed.
      

      
      For Miller, looking back over his family history in the 1990s, the journey out of Europe had sorted the adventurous and the
         ambitious from those who remained. As he explained:
      

      
      
         I had an aunt who told me that she was married in about 1913, and for her honeymoon she and her husband (who was my father’s
            brother) went back to Poland. Can you imagine, a wedding trip to Poland? But they had never been there . . . and my uncle
            took her to this little village which was a miserable little hamlet. She had been born there, and she said, ‘You can’t imagine
            how stupid they were!’ I said, ‘What do you mean?’ She said, ‘Well, they were just like dumb animals!’ I said, ‘Really?’ She
            said, ‘They knew nothing about anything. They did not know where Warsaw was!’ . .. That made me wonder whether a kind of
            selectivity had gone on by virtue of the pressure of events in the late nineteenth century.10

      

      
      Those who chose to leave were deeply provincial people for whom going to America was ‘like going to the moon’, but they were
         people, it seemed to him, with initiative and drive that in turn, perhaps, explained the success with which many made their
         way in the new society. This sounds, of course, suspiciously like the familiar justification of the immigrant and descendant
         of immigrants. There are photographs of those not long off the boats, wearing suits and already exuding the air of prosperity.
         The suits were mere photographers’ props. The purpose of the pictures was to confirm to those who received them that the journey had been justified, the painful breaking of ties vindicated, the feelings of guilt amounting
         at times to treachery, absolved.
      

      
      In the case of the Millers the success would prove real enough and the echoes from the past sound ever more faintly. Even
         so, it does no harm to the psyche to revisit the past and find there still further justification, evidence for the superiority
         of those who left over those who stayed. America was the green light seen across the bay. It was necessary that it should
         prove a true beacon.
      

      
      Isaac Bashevis Singer also left a small Polish town, though he did so in 1935 when the signs of impending apocalypse seemed
         clear. His mother and younger brother stayed behind. Four years later they were dead, frozen to death in a cattle truck as
         the Russians deported them. He felt his own journey was necessary to survival, in every way justified. He was escaping a death
         sentence. Even so, he felt guilty, declaring that ‘a man without guilt is not a man at all’.11 Miller’s plays would be laced through with such self-accusing characters, burdened with a barely repressed sense of failure
         or unjustified success. He knew what their fate would have been had they stayed. The relatives towards whom his aunt had condescended
         would undoubtedly have been subject to another, more systematic and ruthless form of selectivity. Even survival could carry
         a sense of blame.
      

      
      Arthur Miller’s father, Isidore, was left behind by his family when, in the late 1880s, his parents took his three brothers
         and three sisters from their Polish town, as Kermit Miller later recalled, clutching sewing machines. Supposedly, finances
         would not stretch to a ticket. Isidore was, the story went, left with an uncle who disobligingly died so that he was passed
         from relative to relative.
      

      
      The abandonment is so shocking, though, that this account seems highly improbable. Why one child among so many? Why the youngest
         and hence, by definition, the one least able to fend for himself? How was a child of six – he was born in 1884 – not merely
         to handle losing everyone closest to him but at some later date make his way across Europe, and then across the Atlantic,
         on his own? Astonishingly, only in 2000 did Miller and his brother Kermit begin to piece together another version of the story
         based on half-forgotten conversations that had taken place seventy years earlier.
      

      
      It now seemed to both of them that their father had been abandoned as mentally defective. In 2001 Miller told me that he remembered
         him explaining that when he was left behind he had been terrified because he was forced to sleep with ‘idiots who pissed all
         over the beds and howled all night’. He recalled, too, his mother explaining that he had hardly spoken as a child. Kermit
         remembered his father saying that he had been forced to drink from, and bathe in, a rain barrel. It now seemed to the brothers
         that their father had been left in an institution from which he was only released when word was sent, in all probability by a rabbi, as the
         only person of authority, that he was in fact sane, or at least fit to travel.
      

      
      This was the reason, it seemed to them, that on his arrival he was denied the schooling offered to his brothers, as if he
         could not be expected to benefit from it. It was the reason, too, for the contempt with which he was treated, from time to
         time, by his own mother who was seemingly unable to accept the irony that the child she had abandoned should have turned out,
         at least for a while, to be the most successful. She had, Miller came to believe, left her own son to die. His success was
         thus a fluke that must have deepened her sense of guilt. By the same token, she seems to have believed that her grandson’s
         later success owed more to his mother than his father. For the rest of his life her son tried to buy her love with expensive
         gifts. For her part, she seems to have been incapable of offering it.
      

      
      In retrospect, it appeared to Miller remarkable that his father had survived the experience in Poland, not least because conditions
         for a young child had been bad enough without, as it now seemed to him, his having been institutionalized in what must surely
         have been ‘some slimy asylum’. Radomizl, after all, had been the place where Jerzy Kosinski, admittedly not the most reliable
         of sources, claimed to have been tortured by peasants and saved by a priest during the Second World War.
      

      
      The journey from Poland was not an easy one. It involved crossing the German border, legal enough for citizens of the Austro-Hungarian
         empire but nonetheless frequently involving protracted inspections by German authorities fearful of disease. From there the
         emigrants would travel to Berlin, where they would join the stream of Russian Jews heading for the ports where they were liable
         to be held in quarantine for two weeks and were prey to confidence tricksters drawn to those who journeyed with all their
         possessions.
      

      
      The numbers involved at each port were considerable. Howe quotes a figure of 2,173,919 emigrants leaving from Bremen alone
         between 1882 and 1902, though what percentage were Jews is unknown. The sea crossing itself was exhausting. Conditions in
         steerage were frequently appalling, with dark compartments packed with two-tiered wooden bunks in which those unused to sea
         travel vomited on one another. With time, the shipping lines effected improvements but it was still physically debilitating
         and emotionally draining.
      

      
      At last, a ticket did arrive for the young Isidore and he journeyed first to Hamburg, or perhaps, as Miller later thought,
         Bremen, and then on to New York, with a label requesting that he should be put aboard a particular ship. The train journey
         itself was frightening: ‘emigrants were herded at stations, packed in cars, and driven from place to place like cattle’.12 There were frequently no seats so that they had to sit and lie on the floor, resting their heads on their bundles. In Hamburg, he would
         have been led into a large room with narrow bunks along the wall in each of which two people were expected to sleep. Rose
         Cohen, en route to New York, recalled that ‘the air in the room was so foul and thick that it felt as if it could be touched
         . . . But worst of all were the insects in the cot.’13 Isidore would have waited for his name to be called. More than a century later, his son attempted to imagine the scene in
         what was part memoir and part potential play. A uniformed official reads a note from a rabbi in Radomizl asking anyone who
         reads it to help the young boy who carries it. In the play fragment it is suggested that he would have been seven weeks on
         the ocean.The trip probably took closer to three weeks but he did, as the play suggests, travel steerage, next to the ship’s
         steering equipment and below the waterline. He had to sleep on a straw mattress. Shut off from the open air, the passengers
         lived in a stench from the filthy lavatories, often cleaned only as the ship steamed into port where they might be inspected:
         ‘This pervasive, insidious odor,’ recalled one such passenger, ‘a distillation of bilge and a number of less identifiable
         putrescences, settled on one’s person, clothes, and luggage and stayed there forever.’14 Up to 17 per cent of those who left Europe died on the crossing.15 Miller’s father ‘arrived in New York with his teeth loose and a scab on his head the size, they used to say, of a silver
         dollar’.16

      
      It is hard to think what must have gone through the mind of such a child, deprived of family and travelling among strangers.
         If it had been difficult for them, it must have been terrifying for him. It was his first time outside of Radomizl, his first
         on a train, his first time on a ship, unable to read or write in his own language or that of a city that must have seemed
         intimidating to a young boy used only to the scale of a small Polish town. He never talked of this. No doubt it quickly sank
         down into his subconscious, faded into a series of sepia memories. Some residue, however, must have survived, if only a fierce
         ambition to insulate himself from the anarchy of dispossession and desertion, if only a desire for the love he had been denied,
         a need for the security of which he had been deprived and would be deprived of again when his new country lost its grasp on
         destiny in 1929.
      

      
      When Ellis Island was opened as the reception point for immigrants, things were better organized though still traumatizing,
         with doctors who had the power to turn back those they suspected of illness, physical or mental. Letters were chalked on them
         that were designed to define them as ruthlessly as the scarlet A on Nathaniel Hawthorne’s Hester Prynne, letters that designated
         the illnesses from which they were suffering and which would determine whether they were to be Americans or rejected Poles,
         Russians, Germans.
      

      
      Until 1892, when Ellis Island opened, immigrants would arrive at Castle Garden, a red granite fort on the southwest tip of Manhattan in Battery Park, later converted into a saloon where Jenny Lind
         performed, and later still into an aquarium and then a visitor information centre for New York’s National Parks and Monuments.
         Today you can buy tickets there for ferry trips to Ellis Island and the Statue of Liberty. The building itself looked imposing,
         with flags flying from its vaulted roof and notices in English and German. The procedures hardly matched the triumphal architecture.
         Badly organized, their reception was, to many, deeply depressing. In his 1917 novel The Rise of David Levinsky, Abraham Cahan describes the arrival of his protagonist in New York:
      

      
      
         We were ferried over to Castle Garden. One of the things that caught my eye as I entered the vast rotunda was an iron staircase
            rising diagonally against one of the inner walls . . . The harsh manner of the immigration officers was a grievous surprise
            to me. As contrasted with the officials of my despotic country, those of a republic had been portrayed in my mind as paragons
            of refinement and cordiality. My anticipations were rudely belied . . . These unfriendly voices flavored all America with
            a spirit of icy inhospitality that sent a chill through my very soul.17

      

      
      Confidence tricksters were attracted to those who knew nothing of exchange rates or the proper price of baggage clearance.

      
      Very often the immigrants were bewildered as to the answers they should give to officials. If they declared they had a job,
         for instance, they were, after 1885, liable to deportation following passage of a law prohibiting importation of contract
         labour.18 How, after all, do you read the signs and symbols of an alien country to which you have nonetheless committed your future?
         And not everybody could take separation from a former life. Alfred Stieglitz’s famous photograph ‘The Steerage’, celebrated
         as an image of the immigrant, was in fact a portrait of a woman returning to the Eastern Europe from which she had fled, unable,
         finally, to cut the threads that connected her to her past. As it happens, Jewish re-emigration rates were a fraction of those
         for other groups. Even as late as the Depression, when a third of immigrants turned back, the figure for Jews was just 5 per
         cent. They had greater cause to fear the past.
      

      
      In his novel Middlesex (2002), Jeffrey Eugenides imagines the narrative of immigration like a film run backwards, with Europeans and Asians walking
         back on to a ship that forges stern first across the ocean, nestling back into the European womb, as if this were a secret
         fear and dream. There were no such doubts in the Miller home. Even the tenement carried a promise that a bleakly rural Poland
         had not. The polyglot, unformed world that was New York lacked the callous fixities that had embedded anti-Semitism in a merciless
         history. The whirl of the sewing machines was not a sign of drudgery, though there was to be plenty of that, but evidence of sheer focused energy, and infinitely preferable to the sullen silence
         of a country whose irrelevance was underscored by borders so easily erased by enfolding empires. In Poland, labour had been
         to do with survival; here it was to do with advancement. Seeking transformation, they were transformed, though not always
         in ways they had anticipated.
      

      
      They were now part of a country supremely confident in its possibilities, assured not only of its own destiny but of its exemplary
         status. The tall son of a wizened father, Isidore Miller would himself become an emblem of the new generation’s status, no
         matter that his parents would find his triumphs, and subsequently his son’s, bewildering. Eventually he became the chief inheritor
         of a decision made in a country where the Jew’s precarious grasp on his own fate was to be taken as a sign of the secure grasp
         of others.
      

      
      Not so many years later, as Eugenides makes plain, the golden door edged closed, as ‘Henry Cabot Lodge thumped a copy of The Origin of Species, warning that the influx of inferior peoples from southern and eastern Europe threatened “the very fabric of our race”. The
         Immigration Act of 1917 barred thirty-three kinds of undesirables from entering the United States.’19 Immigrants from these regions were cut by four-fifths. The gene pool was to be protected. But by then the Millers had already
         worked their way uptown, away from the promiscuous flow of wide-eyed innocents, standing on the edge of their future, their
         feet in the mud and manure of a city beyond their imagining. It was a journey, though, whose beginnings were at first bewildering
         and always difficult.
      

      
      Isidore was met at Castle Garden by the next-oldest child, Abe, then some ten years of age. He told him that his father owned
         all the buildings the young boy could see. Many decades later Isidore’s son, Arthur, took a trip out towards Ellis Island
         in the company of the rich and successful, struck suddenly by the fact that though Castle Garden was long since closed, it
         was over these waters that his father had sailed into a new life, exhausted, frightened and carrying the scars, literal and
         psychological, of the journey.
      

      
      Once free of immigration, most Jews made their way to the Lower East Side and it was here, on Broome Street (with its twenty
         synagogues between Broome and Delancy), that Miller’s mother Augusta was born in 1891.Her father was Louis Barnett, a clothing
         manufacturer. Indeed, by far the greatest proportion of Jewish immigrants gravitated to the clothing industry. Forty per cent,
         between 1899 and 1914, worked in the trade,20 Miller’s paternal grandfather and father among them. As Irving Howe indicates, of ‘the 241 garment factories in New York
         City in 1885, 234 were owned by Jews, or more than 97 percent’.21

      
      The Lower East Side, originally dominated by German and Irish immigrants, largely consisted of tightly packed tenement buildings
         with one cold water tap to a floor and, in the early 1880s, a death rate nearly double that of the city as a whole. By 1900 the population
         density, at 700 per acre, was greater than that of Bombay.22 Some blocks even reached a figure of 1,000 per acre, though most buildings were less than seven storeys high. It was here
         that pedlars, labourers, tailors, shop workers, struggled to get a hold on their new country. They worked in sweatshops for
         twelve to fourteen hours a day and more, determined first to survive and then to prosper. Initially, for many, such objectives
         seemed problematic. It was these conditions that led to the creation, by one Lillian Walk, of the Hester Street Settlement,
         established to deal with the plight of those debilitated by poverty and ravaged by disease. ‘In America,’ one immigrant wrote
         to his family back home, ‘one has to sweat more during a day than during a whole week in Poland.’23

      
      Isidore was taken to the tenement on Stanton Street (sometimes Miller thought it might have been Christie Street), with eighteen
         synagogues and, in 1910, more than two thousand Jews on certain blocks, where the family, now nine in number, lived and worked
         in three cramped rooms. Nancy Foner quotes Samuel Chotzinoff’s description of such an arrangement: ‘My parents occupied the
         only bed in the house, in the small windowless and doorless room between the kitchen and the front room. My sisters slept
         on improvised beds on the floor of the latter, I on four chairs set up each night in the kitchen.’ In the morning, the chairs
         ‘would be pulled from under me, one by one, as they were required for breakfast.’ In the summer, they slept on the fire escape.
         It was much the same for the Millers, Isidore sleeping on a bed with three of his siblings.
      

      
      The toilet, for the Millers as for Chotzinoff, was an outhouse (augmented, in the Millers’ case, by a pot on the fire escape):
         ‘This arrangement did not strike us as in any way unusual. The water closets – as they were unflatteringly called (there was
         no water anywhere around) – were always locked, and each family was given a key . . . Sometimes a child could earn a penny
         by giving his key to a passer-by in distress.’24 Miller recalled the occasion when one of his aunts, the evening of her first date, had an embarrassing accident as a result
         of such domestic arrangements. She tripped on the stairs and upset the pot over herself. It was a story recalled in subsequent
         years when she would excuse herself from a bridge game so as to pee on her hand for luck. For his part, Isidore, known as
         Izzie, was afraid to go to the outhouse at night for fear of the rats that lived beneath the fire escape and the broken bottles
         that littered the ground. Stories of inside toilets, meanwhile, seemed little more than fantasies.
      

      
      The family used either the public baths or a tub placed in the middle of the room. Over half the city’s population lived in
         such tenements (by 1900 the figure for Jews was 90 per cent).25 That the Miller family had not arrived in America with much money scarcely marked them out from their fellow immigrants. As late as 1910, 87 per cent of Jewish immigrants arrived with less than fifty dollars when the average annual
         household income for their fellow Jews in New York was ten times that.
      

      
      Whatever the reason, the young Isidore, fresh off the boat, had only the briefest of schooling, hence the illiteracy that
         would become his burden and the source of his wife and children’s embarrassment (though male illiteracy among Jewish immigrants
         ran at some 22 per cent).26 He did, however, of necessity, and in confirmation of Jacob Riis’s comments, become competent at maths as, interestingly,
         his son Arthur did not, failing repeatedly. Speaking in July 2000, Kermit remarked to his brother that those years of labour,
         the illiteracy, ‘made him what he was . . . And to some extent, what I was . . . And you.’
      

      
      For Miller, if indeed his father had been left behind to die, his pathetic attempts at education as an adult must have been
         even more painful as he lived with the seemingly insoluble puzzle of why his brothers were literate and he was not, why they
         were embraced by his parents and he was not. Even at the height of his success, Miller suspected, his father felt a sense
         of his own undeservedness so that failure, when it came, must have seemed the final justification for the early disregard.
         No wonder that a sense of abandonment was an essential component of his identity, as, at times, Miller suspected, it was of
         his own.
      

      
      It was the theme of abandonment, he thought, that lay at the heart of his play After the Fall (1964); it was that which had attracted him to Marilyn Monroe, the figure at the centre of that play, a woman whose early
         history was one precisely of abandonment. All his life Isidore was to defer to the parents who had once rejected him, at considerable
         cost to his own family as the Depression bit and their hopes sank back into the broken streets of a distant Brooklyn.
      

      
      Isidore was quickly set behind a sewing machine and joined the burgeoning clothing industry that would become the basis of
         the family fortune. Though he did briefly go to school, he was withdrawn in order to help the family finances. He never returned
         or learned his ABC. But numbers he did understand. He knew prices, wages, profit margins as, later, he knew the box office
         returns of his son’s plays. Arthur, despite conspicuously failing school maths exams, would later note and recall advances
         on royalties, the cost of rent, the changing prices of meals, quite as if such details gave him a grasp on who he had become
         and on a world in flux.
      

      
      Isidore worked seven days a week on the sewing machine from sun-up to sun-down, as did his brothers and sisters when they
         were not at school, and though this was long before he was born Miller found the image of the sweatshop haunting him in his
         later years, not least because he had glimpsed this world on visits to his father’s company. In the 1980s he travelled to China where, peering into the window of a store
         in Yenan, he saw a group of women bent over their sewing machines in the gloom, the sight stirring a retrospective anger at
         the treatment of those, like his own family, forced to spend years struggling to escape a kind of servitude.
      

      
      By the age of twelve Isidore was employing two other boys who sewed coat parts for him in a basement on Broome Street, but
         his father had other plans for him. Two years later, already tall for his age and with blue eyes and reddish hair, he was
         sent on the road with a trunk of coats he was supposed to sell to various stores along the railroad lines. Wearing a blue
         serge suit (his first time in long trousers) and a tie, he got no further than Penn Station, already missing his mother. By
         fifteen, though, he was selling, travelling, for Miller & Sons, to Cleveland, Chicago, Minneapolis. Too young to chase women
         or go drinking, he would sit in hotel lobbies or walk around the town talking to other salesmen.
      

      
      In an age before houses and offices were heated, coats were sometimes worn indoors. They were a major purchase and women would
         often keep them all their lives. Coats were full length and made of wool so that salesmen needed to be strong. Isidore would
         pay others to display them and take down the orders, not least to conceal his own illiteracy. The employment of an assistant,
         however, also gave added status, though the role of salesman itself carried status in an age and a society in which buying
         and selling were central to the national ethos. That did not mean, though, that he was independent of his family. He was to
         be thirty-two when he married and, until then, like his brothers, he handed his pay packet to his mother in return for an
         allowance.
      

      
      The garment industry had expanded along with the population growth. The development of a national market led to demand for
         ready-made women’s clothes. The ready-made clothing industry had emerged in the 1830s but by the time the Miller family arrived
         in the 1880s Jewish entrepreneurs dominated it. Women’s wear came late. It was as a manufacturer of women’s cloaks, in the
         1880s, that the protagonist of Abraham Cahan’s The Rise of David Levinsky set himself up, Cahan himself (who later helped to found the Jewish Daily Forward) arriving from Vilna, Lithuania, in 1882. By 1910 New York City produced 70 per cent of the country’s women’s clothes and
         the industry employed some 60 per cent of the New York Jewish labour force.27 The trade was concentrated below 14th Street. If it gave many immigrants their first chance, however, it was also deeply
         exploitative, something that would later weigh on Miller’s conscience and be addressed in his first student play.
      

      
      In 1909 there was a strike in the garment industry, the workers’ demands explaining something of the conditions under which
         they worked. What they were calling for was a fifty-two-hour week, no more than three nights’ overtime consisting of no more than two hours,
         and payment for needles, thread and electricity. Nancy Foner quotes labour leader Clara Lemlich, who went to work two weeks
         after her arrival in 1903: ‘Those who worked on machines had to carry the machines on their back both to and from work . .
         . The shop we worked in had no central heating, no electric power . . . The hissing of the machines, the yelling of the foreman,
         made life unbearable.’ As Foner points out,28 when demand was high, women could work for up to seventy hours a week with no overtime pay. When demand was low they were
         simply dismissed.
      

      
      Rose Cohen recalled her ‘fingers stiffened with pain’ as she worked on women’s coats. This was the basis of the Miller family
         fortune, this the world into which Arthur Miller was born, son of a man who was one of the country’s leading manufacturers
         of women’s clothes. In his first play, No Villain, a line of women silently sew as outside the building dispatch clerks go on strike. At the heart of the play, meanwhile, is
         a dispute, ideological, moral, between the manufacturer, plainly Isidore Miller, and his idealistic son, Arnold, sometimes
         inadvertently called Arthur.
      

      
      Miller’s maternal grandfather, Louis Barnett, from the same small town as the Millers, left Poland in the late 1870s, before
         the main body of emigration. According to Ross Miller, the name had originally been ‘Baer – very common in that part of Galicia.
         The name change was a result of a female relative anglicizing the name to secure domestic work in Britain. She [eventually]
         returned to Poland but the name change stuck.’29 Louis travelled first to Vienna, to study tailoring, before moving to New York where Augusta was born in the swarm of life
         that stretched and shrank and stitched the cloth on Broome Street. For Augusta, as for Isidore, this cannot have seemed such
         an alien place. This was their country, or almost so, in a way it could never be for their parents, whose fingers were pressed
         to the Braille of an alien culture and for whom each day must have been heavy with mysteries beyond the confines of the immediate
         area in which the old language could still be used, familiar rites practised. In a sense they were in neither one country
         nor another but in the anteroom to a reality which lay somewhere beyond, a place where their children could function more
         easily than them.
      

      
      We have a portrait of Broome Street as it was when Augusta was growing up and Isidore employed two boys in a basement sweatshop.
         Jacob Riis describes a six-storey tenement in which a family live, like the Millers, in two bare rooms, the daughter sleeping
         in the front room, the older boys and younger children on the floor, while ‘under the roof three men are making boys’ jackets
         at twenty cents a piece, of which the sewer takes eight, the ironer, three, the finisher five cents, and the buttonhole maker
         two and a quarter, leaving a cent and three-quarters to pay for the drumming up, the fetching and bringing back of the goods.’30 These were the economics of those who slowly lifted themselves out of poverty, saving at first a few cents and then a few
         dollars and then employing others.
      

      
      Riis includes a photograph in his book of a black-and-tan dive in Broome Street (there were, by Riis’s calculation, 4,065
         such saloons below 14th Street). A man sits on a barrel in a run-down room, a woman staring blankly down. Here was the world
         that greeted the immigrants, the world they would fight hard to escape. This was the street in which Arthur Miller’s mother
         was born and raised.
      

      
      The older generation drove themselves hard in this new country but emotionally were most fully at home in the past, the world
         that had shaped them, whose language and rituals had structured their lives. Here, in America, the past was thrown away as
         suspect, used up, barring the path to the future. The next generation, meanwhile, was already letting go of that language
         and those rituals. They did not stare in from the outside. They might be coerced or persuaded to continue the old ceremonies
         but they did so grudgingly and with a sense of their irrelevance. As they grew up and slowly began to establish themselves
         in the new world, their place at the sewing machines taken by the next wave of immigrants, and the next, so they married outside
         the faith, forgetting why they were supposedly a chosen people, the status that had made them simultaneously blessed and cursed,
         and that had set their elders to travelling in despair and in hope. For the most part they had lost that instinct which should
         have told them it could all disappear.
      

      
      The final humiliation for the older generation would come when age meant them becoming dependent not only for their daily
         needs but for that confirmation of their reality which comes from shared memories. Not even the landscape was there to remind
         them of who they once were and who they might now be. There was a fault line running through their lives, a line between past
         and present, between the generations, but also between what was fixed and what was changing. Success moved them, physically
         and emotionally, deeper into the new society, yet if assimilation was what they yearned for it was also, and more importantly,
         what they feared. It was the negotiation that had always confronted the Jews: to remain separate and yet be a part of the
         world from which they thus distanced themselves. That balance had defined them. To lose that balance, to embrace too completely
         the new world in which they had sought safety, was to face a subtler kind of extinction than the one they had fled.
      

      
      One of New York’s gifts, though, lies in the fact that everyone is a stranger and hence everyone is at home. Few have time’s
         sanction; tradition is suspect. All languages and accents seem equally valid, the very babel being definitional. Even today,
         for some bizarre reason, taxis are driven by Russians with no English and a mental map of Omsk with which to navigate Manhattan. Elsewhere in the world taxi drivers are expected to be
         masters of an urban geography. In New York no one expects a cab driver to know where he is going or even to be too sure where
         he is. Journeys are negotiations, with the passenger throwing out hints, as the man behind the wheel improvises his way through
         an improvised city, making and unmaking itself daily.
      

      
      For those who fear change, perversely New York offers a homeopathic remedy. Here, nothing, it seems, is permanent, and in
         his 1998 play Mr Peters’ Connections Miller was to acknowledge the vertiginous nature of a disassembling world. So many of Miller’s descriptions of the neighbourhoods,
         the stores, the restaurants he knew when growing up are accounts of buildings long since demolished, replaced and demolished
         again – as if shadow were cast upon shadow in an urban archaeology which lays down strata of experience, customs, images.
         What is excitingly dynamic to the new arrival can be disturbingly entropic to those whose lives are winding down and for whom
         a morphing city can leave memories disturbingly detached.
      

      
      The fact that in New York cab driving is regarded as an entry profession says something about that city’s readiness to grant
         authority and legitimacy to the foreigner, as if he or she has an equal, and just possibly a superior right to be guide to
         a city state of nations. In 1900, 37 per cent of people in New York were foreign-born. It was the same percentage in 2000.
         When Arthur Miller was born, more than 14 per cent of all foreign-born people in America lived in New York. Perhaps the location
         of the United Nations in Manhattan was a recognition of this fact and a concession to the friendly unfriendliness which is
         a product of a people whose inflected English is stripped of all grace notes, a place in which many seem to speak English
         as a second language even if it is their first.
      

      
      The family company thrived until after the First World War, Isidore working for it until he broke away to form the Miltex
         Coat and Suit Company, which in turn became extremely successful. Finally, his father dissolved his own company, probably
         as the result of the death of another of his sons, Morton Miller’s father. He died in the great flu epidemic at the end of
         the First World War and, Miller suspects, was the real brains of the firm. Certainly he recalled his mother saying, ‘The rest
         of them were idiots.’ Isidore’s other brothers now joined him, much to Augusta’s disgust, she regarding them as no more than
         leeches, especially when what had seemed an endless boom suddenly showed signs of faltering.
      

      
      Later, Arthur Miller was to recall trips downtown with his mother on which they visited his father in a building with a service
         elevator, rows of workers at sewing machines, clerks, salesmen and a warehouse area with huge bales of cloth moved around
         by carts. The women working the machines, he recalled, all on piece work, pushed the needles through the seams at high speed. Lunch, for them, lasted a bare fifteen minutes
         and consisted of a bowl of sour cream with pieces of onion and a handful of pumpernickel bread. The going rate for those sewing
         and packing, as for the shipping clerks, was twelve dollars a week.
      

      
      What struck Miller as a child, though, he told me, was not their attenuated lives but his own position: ‘I was rather proud
         to be the boss’s son. I only went there on a weekend, on a Saturday once or twice, because I was at school the rest of the
         week. I remember pushing all the trucks around with big bolts of cloth. There were big scales to weigh stuff they were going
         to ship out. He [Isidore] was so excited and proud to have his family in there. It was Sabbath, so not everybody was there.’
         The Sabbath, however, made no difference either to his father or to his grandfather when it came to work. It was only later
         that his grandfather became particularly religious. ‘He would go around being terrifically godly, but in his working life
         he hadn’t been that way at all.’
      

      
      When his father had lost his company but, briefly, started another, Miller worked for him for a month, ‘until he couldn’t
         stand it any more’.31 He swept out, arranged cloth, performed minor chores and was thoroughly bored. His father, detecting this, asked, ironically,
         ‘Do you remember where you left off last night?’ He was there long enough, though, to absorb the ethos of the Lower East Side:
         work hard and keep your nose clean. At the same time he recognized the desperation of those who laboured in the ill-lit, oppressive
         rooms. As he said, ‘I usually got involved with failures, of whom I considered myself one, people who didn’t fit. And this
         included a lot of salesmen. Down below was a rough place to be.’32

      
      There was, indeed, another side to this part of New York that was initially the site of the Miller family fortune. Eric Lanzetti,
         son of an Italian socialist immigrant, a man who had served with the anarchists in Spain in 1936 and become a communist, later
         recalled the nature of the area where Isidore had his first factory:
      

      
      
         The East Side . . . was a city within a city, the town of [Michael Gold’s novel] Jews Without Money: polyglot, teeming, colorful, its heart on its sleeve . . . It was a sovereign state, working class and radical to the core,
            bounded on the south by Chinatown, on the west by Greenwich Village, on the north by the Protestant World, and on the east
            by the river . . . Our republic had its own newspapers (the Jewish Daily Forward,the Day,the East Side News, Der Freiheit,the Daily Worker) . . . The system on the East Side . . . was a gestalt. It was capitalism in all its complex and tortured detail. The East Side was politically sui generis in America: there were practically no conservatives. The right-wingers were the New Dealers, and the political conjugation
            went on from there: Social Democrats, Socialists, Communists, Trotskyists, Anarchists. The majority party was the Democratic, the
            ALP [American Labour Party], then the Communist Party.33

      

      
      Both Miller’s grandfathers were contractors who bought pre-cut material from the manufacturers (usually German Jews) and made
         it up into ready-to-wear clothes for a set price. In order to be competitive, they would often require their workers to raise
         their productivity by cutting, sewing and pressing more garments in the same time. These were the sweatshops of the Lower
         East Side. There were occasional, and devastating, fires. From time to time there were strikes, but with new labour appearing
         at Ellis Island with every boat that docked, workers had very little power. Louis Barnett, Isidore’s father-in-law, had been
         known to throw union organizers downstairs.
      

      
      As Irving Howe has pointed out, the majority of East European Jews who succeeded in business did so in the garment industry34 and, by degrees, those who prospered began to move out of the Lower East Side. New communities were established in Brooklyn
         and Harlem. By 1910 a third of Jews lived in Brooklyn and by 1916 only a quarter of New York City’s Jews still lived on the
         Lower East Side.35After the building of the Williamsburg Bridge in 1903, the anthropologist Nancy Foner points out, so many people moved across
         the East River to the Williamsburg section of Brooklyn that the New York Tribune called it the Jews’ Highway.
      

      
      Two of Arthur Miller’s uncles, both salesmen, moved to Brooklyn in the 1920s, though not from Manhattan but from small towns
         in Upper New York State. There, just across the bridges from Manhattan, of which the Brooklyn Bridge was the most iconic,
         they lived in a still largely rural area, in small wooden houses with flat roofs and three-step stoops and with gentiles for
         neighbours. One, Manny, was a partial model for Willy Loman in Death of a Salesman. His sales trips took him up into New England and Miller said of him: ‘It was the unpredictability of his life that wove
         romance around it. He was not in some dull salaried job where you could never hope to make a killing. Hope was his food and
         drink, and the need to project hopeful culminations for a selling trip helped, I suppose, to make life unreal.’36

      
      When Augusta married Miller’s father in 1911, it was potentially the merging of two commercial empires. It was certainly a
         decision that the two patriarchs assumed was theirs to make after an evening in which Augusta’s father had examined the potential
         suitor’s accounts. Physical attraction, Miller noted, let alone love, was not the issue. What was at stake was the need to
         protect an ever-embattled religious identity – that, and the consolidation of hard-won success.
      

      
      Augusta’s sisters, Annie and Esther, had eloped and were married to what Miller called ‘sensuous, impecunious lovers’, but she was afraid of her father and unwilling to challenge him. Another
         young suitor had been chased away. Isidore, from a successful company, was approved. When he came to call, carrying a bunch
         of flowers, ice cream was served, a luxury. The result was a marriage that was a mixture of love and resentment. In good times
         it seemed an alliance if not quite of equals then of two people who brought differing talents to a relationship of mutual
         respect. In the bad times that would come with the Depression, it seemed what it was, an arranged marriage in which Miller’s
         mother Augusta had sacrificed her own talents and potential.
      

      
      In an early version of After the Fall Miller offers a portrait of the two men who had arranged her life, and of his mother’s response to the deal done over her
         head: ‘I wasn’t allowed to see your father till his father and Grandpa had agreed!’ She had accepted the arrangement ‘because, I decided for once somebody was not going to break my mother’s heart’, her sisters having refused to go along with her parents’
         plans.37 Back in Eastern Europe, such arranged marriages had been common. In America they would quickly die out, but the two patriarchs
         who arranged the marriage between Augusta and Isidore had their roots in the old world, even as they determined the best way
         to succeed in the new.
      

      
      In the final published version of After the Fall Miller includes a lament, by a character called Mother, who was plainly Augusta: ‘I’ll never forget it, valedictorian of
         the class with a scholarship to Hunter [College, City University of New York] in my hand . . . A blackness flows into her soul. And I came home, and Grandpa says, “You’re getting married!” I was like – like with small wings, just getting ready to fly;
         I slept all year with the catalogue under my pillow.’ Miller also offers what is clearly an account of Augusta’s shock when
         she discovered that the man she had married was illiterate (not such an uncommon occurrence – the writer Alfred Kazin’s mother,
         for example, also being illiterate): ‘two weeks after we were married; sit down to dinner and Papa hands me a menu and asks
         me to read it to him. Couldn’t read! I got so frightened I nearly ran away.’38 It was, Miller later insisted, an invented detail but it is also to be found in the play fragment from what seems to be the
         late 1960s in which he recalled these times. The precise circumstance of the revelation was invented, the fact was not. Augusta’s
         sense of dismay was certainly real enough, the feeling on her part that she had surrendered her own future to a man whose
         charm and business acumen left her entertained and apparently secure but in some fundamental sense frustrated and eventually
         contemptuous of his incapacities. In fact, Miller insists, she discovered that Isidore was illiterate one Sunday afternoon
         when, in their living room overlooking Central Park, she watched as her husband asked his lawyer to reread an agreement for
         the third time. She was nineteen years old and had been married for two months. It was not the only revelation. She had already discovered that he did not know the world was round,
         asking her, on the boardwalk at Atlantic City where they had gone for their honeymoon, why he could see the smokestack of
         a ship on the horizon before the rest of it. In his autobiography Timebends: A Life, Miller describes his father as still being baffled by this as he sat on the porch of the Long Island nursing home where
         he died. ‘Oh. So it’s round!’ he reported him as saying,39 as though it had taken most of his life to penetrate that particular mystery.
      

      
      He had little in the way of small talk. Conversation was for information. But, his evident admiration for attractive women
         aside, he was faithful, and this despite his odd habit of pursuing women in the street to check out their clothes, committing
         details of the design to memory in order to copy their designer coats.
      

      
      Isidore admired his wife. He acknowledged her talents but thought her naive when it came to the business of living and was
         afraid that his sons might embrace her values. Like many women, Augusta was the carrier of the culture. Though her sisters
         had no interest in their European heritage she could name the royal families of a continent her family had long since left
         behind. She was the only one of them to read for pleasure. Her taste ran to Alfred Lord Tennyson, William Cullen Bryant, Sherwood
         Anderson and Emily Dickinson. She was also, though, to be the one denied access not to America’s wealth, which, for a time,
         she had, but to the self-realization that was equally its promise. She played music, she drew, but not merely was she married
         to a man who did neither of these, she was cut off from the education that she later saw as a key to her sons’ future.
      

      
      The wedding, in 1911,was a grand affair, and suggests just how wealthy the family was. Two hundred and fifty guests, the women
         in evening gowns and the men in tuxedos, attended the reception in a large restaurant-dance pavilion. It was the celebration
         of something more than a marriage. The two families had been in America for not much more than twenty years and here they
         were, dressed in the costumes of another country, having moved from poverty to wealth, from outside to inside toilets. The
         two young people being married were the future for which they had themselves left a familiar world that had promised them
         nothing but poverty and persecution.
      

      
      Miller was born in Harlem on 17 October 1915,at 127 West 111th Street, the family shortly afterwards moving to a six-storey
         building at 45 110th Street between Lenox and Fifth Avenues, in his view the handsomest street in New York. Augusta’s parents
         now lived on 118th Street. At that time the only predominantly African-American part of the area was from 130th to 140th Street.
         Five years earlier, the Jewish Daily Forward had called the area ‘a Jewish city, inhabited by tens of thousands of Jews . . . as busy and congested as our East Side, with the same absence of light and air’.40 In 1910 there were a hundred thousand Jews living in Harlem, the second-largest concentration of immigrant East European
         Jews in the country.41 This Jewish enclave stretched from 97th to 142nd Street. Within this, between Lenox and Seventh Avenue, was a more up-market
         area of 1890s buildings: ‘Private dwellings and apartments, houses of a quality superior to those constructed anywhere in
         East Harlem, were scattered all along the wide-open thoroughfares of Fifth and Lenox Avenues.’42 Those who lived there were what Abraham Cahan was to call the ‘alrightniks’. And there were fortunes to be made. Samuel Silverman,
         like Miller’s grandfather, and father a coat manufacturer, amassed half a million dollars. Growth in the women’s garment business
         had coincided with Jewish immigration. By 1900 it was worth $159 million, with New York’s share $107 million, while by 1914
         the clothing industry employed more than half a million people.43

      
      In 1915, the year of Miller’s birth, William Fox, a former wool ‘sponger’ in the garment industry, approached Miller’s father
         for a $50,000 loan to help set up a movie studio in California, in return for a percentage of the company. The size of the
         proposed loan gives some idea of the state of the Miller family finances. But, suspicious of spongers, who were responsible
         for pre-shrinking wool before it was cut into garments, and who hence were in a position to shrink cloth by other means than
         steam (simply cutting it for their own use), he rejected the offer and hence lost a fortune. Miller later recalled his father
         remarking, ‘“I might have given it to him if they were making films in New York”, but to give Bill Fox fifty thousand dollars
         and have him disappear into California was beyond his credulity, so he didn’t do it.’44

      
      The decision also ensured that his son would be raised in New York and not California and that he himself would be wiped out
         by the Depression, when it came, rather than prospering as did the film industry. As Miller caustically observed, ‘It would
         have been inconceivable to him that afternoon, as he told Fox the bad news, that in not so many years he would be finding
         it hard to scratch up the price of a ticket to a Twentieth Century Fox movie.’45 It would have been inconceivable, too, to think that many years later his son would meet Marilyn Monroe on the set of a Twentieth
         Century Fox movie, and later have the head of the company beg him to collaborate with the House Un-American Activities Committee
         rather than allow the reputation of his star to be damaged by association with communism – a communism, incidentally, that
         had thrived in the sweatshops of the Lower East Side.
      

      
      For many years the Millers’ experiences in the new country fully validated their family’s decision to leave Europe. With an
         expansive and expensive apartment in a then still fashionable area of Harlem, they had a chauffeur-driven car, a red-headed Polish maid called Sadie (who once pushed a young Arthur Miller’s face into his hot breakfast cereal) and
         a family business employing some four hundred people, with salesmen travelling in more than half of the United States. Arthur’s
         father, a man with curly reddish hair, fair skin and blue eyes, would wear a grey hat and Chesterfield overcoat with a velvet
         collar, and appeared the epitome of success. They now lived in a society where, for the most part, anti-Semitism took a far
         subtler form than in the country they had left behind. So long as they moved within their own community they need seldom register
         its existence.
      

      
      Isidore and Augusta Miller, like all immigrants or children of immigrants, were precariously balanced between conflicting
         desires. ‘They were certainly Jews,’ Miller later observed, ‘but they were trying to become, and in some ways did become,
         indistinguishable from anybody else. You lose roots and you gain something else, perhaps. It’s a trade-off. It’s a question
         of what you do lose.’46 The words ‘trying’ and ‘perhaps’ here seem freighted with ambiguity and surely he is implying a sense of loss. At first,
         though, there appeared to be no conflict.
      

      
      The community they joined had myths of its own – to do with national destiny, progress, material advancement, personal ambition
         – that seemed to chime with those of a people who had themselves come west in search of possibility. In truth, though, the
         most famous historian of the West, Frederick Jackson Turner, had been keen to make a distinction between those immigrants
         who had opened up the West, in a process that he saw as defining the American identity which lay at the heart of American
         democracy, and those, largely Jews, who arrived in the late nineteenth century when the frontier was, anyway, closed. In part
         he was reacting against the new urban life but he reserved a special dislike for the ‘swarthy sons and daughters of the tribe
         of Israel’47 who raised nothing but a crop of ‘pants’.
      

      
      In America, as elsewhere, the Jew was often seen as, alien, self-contained and hence the subject of suspicion. When another
         historian of America, Henry Adams, announced ‘Westward the course of Jewry takes its way’ in 1899, he was doing anything but
         accommodating Jewish ambitions to those of his country. This, after all, was a man who believed that ‘We are in the hands
         of the Jews’ who ‘can do what they please with our values’, and who confessed to preaching ‘the downfall of the Jews’48 while lamenting his own inability to bring it about. For a young Arthur Miller though, the views of Henry Adams were of little
         significance. There were more pressing concerns, beginning in the family.
      

      
      Arthur Miller, then, was not born into the clutter and noise of the Lower East Side. Not for him the social kaleidoscope,
         the staccato rhythms of streets dense with those whose eyes were dull with work or bright with ambition. He was born into privilege and a certain elegance, and delivered by the family physician, Dr Plotz (a name which became a
         family joke), whose son would one day take care of Augusta and Isidore at their deaths and in 1985 shake Miller’s hand in
         an Italian restaurant, a ghost from the past.
      

      
      Retrospectively, the FBI would interest itself in the birth of this son of an immigrant. In 1951, FBI report NY 100-57673
         noted that his ‘true name’, as reflected in the birth records (Certificate 54449 of the Board of Health, Manhattan), was not
         Arthur Asher Miller but ‘Anton Asher Miller’, suitably foreign-sounding and evidence that he had subsequently adopted an alias.
         This identification was to remain in his file for some time. In November 2002 Miller noted, ‘My name was never Anton Asher
         Miller, who was probably some other nuisance whom the FBI wanted to execute. I have no idea what they’re talking about because
         I have my birth certificate which has my real name.’49 So he had and so it does, though the first name is written so casually that there is some excuse for the error. It also misspells
         Isidore’s name. The certificate is dated 26 October, nine days after the birth.
      

      
      His earliest memory, from, he thought, the age of two or three, was of his mother, in a long woollen dress that reached her
         ankles. She was speaking into a wall telephone. He recalled tugging her dress as a shaft of sunlight crossed her shoe. That
         was to be the starting point for the autobiography he published seventy years later, long after his mother was dead, a woman
         he struggled to mourn.
      

      
      The family’s multi-room apartment meant that there was space and privacy. There was a smell of money in the air. There is
         a picture of the young Arthur Miller in winter, his trousers tucked neatly into long socks. He is wearing a shirt and tie
         with a fur-collared sheepskin coat and flat cap and gloves. His shoes look suspiciously new. He is about to throw a snowball
         and looks for all the world like a young Vanderbilt, or F. Scott Fitzgerald before heading east to an Ivy League Princeton.
         He was, however, allowed to play outside. His cousin Morton, slipping out to play, wearing a jacket and tie even in the hottest
         weather, was frequently led back indoors by his mother ‘to study’, the family wanting him to be either a lawyer or a rabbi
         (at Columbia University he would later have to walk two miles a day for a kosher meal, until, in his third year, he ate a
         ham sandwich and, in his own mind, became a real American).
      

      
      Recalling the Harlem of his youth, Miller remembered a sense of space, a cityscape that had briefly emerged from a rural idyll.
         New York, at least in memory, had boulevards like Paris:
      

      
      
         It is the highest point of the island, so that we got a terrific view of most of the island from our home. It was where people
            went on vacation back in the nineteenth century. There were German beer-gardens all over the place. In fact my father remembered that there had been a German beer-garden on the area where our apartment house was standing, and
            it faced Central Park, which was about the most beautiful part of the island . .. There were a lot of trees along the boulevard
            – big, enormous elms and maples.
         

      

      
      Though he would later prefer the woods of Brooklyn, which made Central Park seem ‘a tame reproduction’, he still regarded
         Harlem as ‘marvellous’.50 On a good day he could see down to the harbour.
      

      
      America itself was booming. This was a world in which Lindbergh flew the Atlantic and baseball player Babe Ruth astonished
         with his home runs. It was a time when, as Lee, Miller’s alter ego in his play The American Clock (1980), recalls, ‘Gertrude Ederle swam the English Channel and Charley Paddock, the World’s Fastest Human, won a race against
         a racehorse – because he believed.’ It was a country, indeed, of believers. Its mood was that of Britain at the height of
         Empire. Every piece of news seemed to confirm that this was an age like no other, and this a country that was specially blessed.
         As Lee remarks, ‘I thought that if a man was .. . like my father – hardworking and making the right goods – he got to be
         well-off . . . Life was a question of individuals.’51 And all this was the gift America offered to the immigrant. Miller was to say:
      

      
      
         the idea then was to disappear into the general American population. The first thing the immigrant groups did, especially
            the Jews, was to set up schools to teach English, to speak it properly, and to write it properly . . . The original impulse
            of the immigrant was to become an American, not, as is the fashion now, to emphasize the ethnicity of everybody, to show how
            different people are. There is something to be said for both, because my parents’ generation were deformed by having, in effect,
            to conceal themselves. They tried to eliminate any accent from their speech. There was something called elocution taught in
            grammar school. You were taught to speak regular English.
         

      

      
      Isidore Miller, however, had been denied such schooling as his wife had not, itself a source of friction: ‘You couldn’t talk
         to my father about anything that had to do with a book . . . My mother read books, played the piano quite well, and sang,
         so that between them there could be no cultural discussion, excepting about a movie or the theatre.’52 But these were the 1920s when, as F. Scott Fitzgerald remarked, the snows were not real snows. If you did not want them to
         be real snows you just paid some money and they went away. To imagine something was to make it so and for the Miller family
         the sky seemed blue and cloudless.
      

      
      One generation back, meanwhile, lay another language. Miller’s maternal grandfather Louis Barnett ‘regarded German, the language
         and the culture, as the highest reach of human culture . . . Consequently he spoke a kind of Yiddish, a medieval German with other languages
         collected into it’, though even he ‘was always trying to improve his English . . . The idea was to become a citizen of the
         country in which you lived, not to become some excrescence from it . . . that was a very strong thing.’53 This Yiddish-speaking grandfather was to become a character in his first play.
      

      
      The Yiddish, the German, however, had to be excised, burned off. It was the unfortunate residue of alien cultures whose sole
         role now was to be abandoned, acknowledged only as precursor. As five brothers complained to the Jewish Daily Forward in 1933: ‘Imagine, even when we go with our father to buy something in a store on Fifth Avenue, New York, he insists on speaking
         Yiddish. We are not ashamed of our parents, God forbid, but they ought to know where it’s proper and where it’s not. If they
         talk Yiddish among themselves at home, or to us, it’s bad enough, but among strangers and Christians? Is that nice?’54 The new language was to be a facilitator, a guarantee. And since language is something more than a carrier of values, histories,
         ways of seeing, the abandonment of prior languages involves renunciation even as it offers induction.
      

      
      Miller’s paternal grandfather was small, and with what his grandson would call a large toppling head. As a child, Miller found
         it difficult to look at him, afraid that his fascination with his deformity would become apparent. He was nearly a foot shorter
         than his wife, a single-minded woman who never let anyone or anything interfere with her plans. The two of them lived in a
         large, elegant house in the Flatbush area of Brooklyn. Years later he recalled visiting them, at the age of nine, with his
         father, an occasion on which the old man had stared at Isidore as if trying to fathom how someone they had assumed to be an
         idiot had managed to produce such evidently bright children, a bemusement which only deepened when one of those children grew
         up to be a successful playwright. Isidore was attractive and that, no doubt, was one reason for his success. His mother was
         darker-skinned, a fact that worried his mother-in-law who would later anxiously enquire as to the complexion of Miller’s children.
      

      
      Miller recalled his mother as she was in the 1920s, a time of change. He remembered her, in particular, as she was when preparing
         to go out to a show: ‘She wore a cloche hat, beaded dress and looked real slick. She looked like a real swinger . . . My mother
         cut her hair, and that was a great event. She, like most of the women, wore her hair long, and wound it on top of her head.
         Sometime in the 20s she had it bobbed, which was revolutionary. It was a real shocker! I reflected some of it in The American Clock, where the boy bursts into tears. It was like an amputation.’ The boy was based on Miller’s older brother, Kermit.
      

      
      The men did not change but the women assuredly did: ‘The skirts went up high, and the tops went down. People were bare-armed, where before their clothes were quite Victorian, and it all happened,
         it seemed to me, in a year.’ Even entertainment was changing. Irish tenors were replaced by crooners. When Rudy Vallee sang
         on the radio, Miller recalled, ‘all these married hausfraus . . . would . . . flock into one house, eight or ten of them,
         and sit there facing this radio’.55

      
      The radio, indeed, was the principal source of entertainment. As he explained to me in 2003, ‘we kept track of all the new
         comedians, the singers – Bing Crosby, Russ Columbo, Rudy Vallee. We sat there judging who was the best.’ That was hardly surprising
         since Russ Columbo’s agent deliberately set up a battle of the crooners between his client and Crosby, which came to an end
         when Columbo fell out with the agent and then, in 1934, was accidentally shot in the head. ‘Kate Smith,’ Miller recalled,
         ‘was a national heroine. She weighed a good two hundred and eighty pounds in her stockinged feet and she belted out these
         numbers. I couldn’t stand her because she was sort of threatening. Sometimes you would hear Billie Holiday but she never got
         to be a national figure because she was black and they couldn’t stand for that. But one did hear her and it opened up a whole
         new sound.’ Since Rudy Vallee began his radio work in 1928 and Kate Smith in 1931, Miller seems here to be going back in his
         memory to the age of thirteen to sixteen.
      

      
      Augusta Miller would play the piano and sing. On occasion, at New Year and on her wedding anniversary, she would even dance
         on the mahogany table, but long after Arthur had gone to bed. This was the table at which Kermit did his homework and Arthur
         learned to read, as the radiators hissed gently in the background, the table that would one day appear on stage as a prop
         in a play that looks back to the 1930s called The Price; a token, perhaps, that for Miller his family life, with its ebb and flow of tensions, lay at the heart of his drama.
      

      
      His mother made pencil sketches of the children, as they tried to do of one another as they sat around the dining-room table.
         His brother’s, he recalled, were clear and precise, his own endlessly erased as he fought for her attention and affection.
         Augusta was also an avid reader in a house and a community where few people read anything more than the newspaper, if that.
         The printed word drew her just as it baffled her husband, who was thus cut off from the kind of contact she enjoyed with her
         sons, a gentle conspiracy that nonetheless seemed bound to breed resentment and, ultimately, even contempt. The idyllic scene
         recalled by Miller excluded the father, whose own version of the future was to differ radically from his own.
      

      
      Augusta had graduated from her school head of her class, but her ambitions for further education came to an end with marriage.
         She was, Miller observed, ‘a good example of the way society treated women, especially in that immigrant group’.56 Suddenly, she had had to give up all thoughts of improvement, the excitement of college. Not for her the New Woman of the
         1920s. She had to settle for domesticity. Her identity had to be subsumed in that of a man who was her intellectual inferior.
         As a substitute for what she could never hope to share with him, she hired students who would arrive clutching books, often
         those in the news, and the following week they would discuss them. Miller remembered her, sitting against the brightness of
         the window, with Central Park stretching out into the distance, talking earnestly with these young students, a scene whose
         pathos would only strike him with the passing years. At the time he did not know what to make of these visits. Later, it became
         an image of everything she thought she had lost in marrying.
      

      
      Her family had no interest in anything but business. The public world passed them by. Her husband, who loved her, nonetheless
         had nothing to offer beyond financial security and material comfort. She was, it seemed to Miller, a kind of prisoner in the
         life that had been chosen for her. These visits by young men, though, were only one of the many mysteries that confronted
         a young boy growing up in a family and a community which seemed to hug its secrets to itself.
      

      
      In 1959 Miller wrote a short story in which, effectively, he tries to re-inhabit his younger self, to convey some sense of
         his struggle for autonomy and to account for the complex feelings towards his parents that have left him with a residue of
         guilt. It is a story in which the young boy registers but cannot fully understand the events that take place around him. He
         feels, above anything else, a sense of exclusion, but he also registers the offer of collusion from a mother desperate to
         discover a meaning slipping through her fingers. The protagonist of I Don’t Need You Any More, is five years old. The world remains a confusing place as he tries to relate events to some central meaning. Jewish holidays
         come and go – Tisha b’Av, Rosh Hashanah and Yom Kippur. They evidently require certain observances but he alone is exempt.
         It is as though he were being deliberately excluded. He is on the outside of life looking in. He is not taught Hebrew or even
         piano or violin. When the others fast, he eats. For the moment he feels unneeded and responds in kind by telling his mother
         that he has no need of her, not realizing the pain he causes. At stake is his relationship with his family, with a religion
         that mystifies and entices.
      

      
      This is a story, but Miller acknowledged its personal relevance. The boy, like Miller, is mocked for his protuberant ears.
         The mother tells him that she had loved a young student – he ‘was so in love with me! I was ready to marry him, can you imagine?
         But Grandpa made him go away. He was only a student then. Oh, the books he brought me all the time!’57 Instead she had gone ahead with the marriage her father had planned for her, a story Miller had heard from his own mother of course. The result is that the boy feels obliged to share his mother’s secret, thereby betraying
         his father and forging an alliance with his mother which leaves him feeling uncomfortable. Miller confessed to just such a
         feeling, as he did to the thought expressed by this five-year-old in what is clearly the Millers’ seaside cottage at Far Rockaway:
         ‘he knew he would astonish everybody’. Here, then, is a portrait of a young boy trying to understand his place in the world:
      

      
      
         For the first time in his life he had the hard, imperishable awareness of descent, and with it the powers of one who knows
            he is being watched over and so receives a trust he must never lay down. In his mind’s eye there rushed past the image of
            his angry father, and behind Papa was Grandpa and then other men, all grave and bearded, watching over him and somehow expecting
            and being gratified at the renewal of their righteousness and bravery in him.58

      

      
      The tradition, it seems, is male. It is his mother with whom he has a problematic relationship, a mother who he senses is
         trapped, disappointed in her ambitions and desires. One consequence, as it seemed to him, of being raised by a woman who felt
         trapped and sought to transform her life with literature, with reimagining the world to make it tolerable, was that he felt
         reality was male, and had to do with business and money, while fiction was female and had to do with retreating into the imagination,
         surviving, spiritually, by recasting experience into an acceptable and consoling form. The fiction-making impulse was thus
         ambiguous. It was simultaneously a means of surviving and a desperate evasion. Meanwhile, his father’s illiteracy opened a
         gap between the two of them. Miller would later admit to the conviction that each play he wrote was a reproach to a man for
         whom words were a mystery, a barrier between feeling and sense, as between himself and those he loved without, seemingly,
         ever fully understanding.
      

      
      Isidore Miller was radically different from his wife. For him the business, one of the country’s two or three largest women’s
         coat manufacturers, was everything. Such limited reading skill as he had was acquired, with the help of Augusta, because of
         his need to follow a regular item in the New York Times that announced ‘The Arrival of Buyers’, these being buyers – of shoes, clothing and other goods – who had come to the city
         from across the country to look at the products they wished to sell in their stores in Minneapolis, Chicago, St Louis and
         elsewhere. Beyond that, though, he could hardly go.
      

      
      It is difficult to imagine what his feelings must have been, then, when his wife had to hire students to give her the intellectual
         stimulation he could not. There must have been a sense of humiliation somewhere, balanced, until his business failed, by his
         success in offering her access to a cultural world largely closed to him. What drove him, it seemed to Miller and his brother,
         was a desire to make his mark, to claim his place in a world that once he could have felt he had no right to access, and no skills to master. As a result, even when failure came he refused to accept it, struggling
         to set up new businesses when this seemed no more than foolishness.
      

      
      Over the years husband and wife had accommodated themselves to each other. If theirs had never been a love affair, there were
         points of contact and a mutual respect. Miller’s mother was an avid theatre-goer. She would dress up and the chauffeur would
         drive her and Isidore to watch musicals. Her jewels glittered in the light as she rushed around preparing to leave. If it
         seemed an empty life compared to the one she had planned for herself, she did not show it, or not until later when things
         began to unwind. She would come home from the theatre carrying sheet music and the next day would play the songs on the piano,
         with the young Arthur occasionally joining in, this being the first signs of a career that he nearly followed when he worked
         briefly, for no pay, as a crooner at the age of fifteen. Even in his eighties he could be persuaded to sing the old songs
         (as a child he had had piano and violin lessons in turn, but had hated both). Fifty years later, his sister Joan would sort
         through the sheet music and choose some for the production of The American Clock, in which she played the part of her mother.
      

      
      In 2007, Joan still had the piano at which her mother had played. One day she needed it tuned and the man who arrived at her
         West Side apartment recognized it immediately as one of a series of seven he had made for various members of the Miller family,
         starting with Joan’s mother who had set the cultural tone for the family. Each ordered a slightly grander grand piano. Nobody
         bought into the idea of a competitive society more profoundly than the children of immigrants. In 1984 Miller had a piano
         delivered at his home in Roxbury, Connecticut, despite the fact that none of the family played, as though he were reaching
         back to his childhood and memories of his mother playing show tunes as they all joined in. Joan, meanwhile, willed her mother’s
         piano to Miller’s daughter, Rebecca.
      

      
      However, if Isidore accompanied his wife to the musical theatre, he offered little in the way of cultured conversation about
         what they saw, though in later years, when he and his son had largely got over the disputes precipitated by political differences,
         the playwright would learn to trust his simple but honest and direct responses to his plays and the actors they starred. And
         Isidore was not without his fastidiousness. He would refuse to eat in any restaurant that had thick water glasses. Decades
         later, when the marriage between Arthur Miller and Marilyn Monroe ended, one of the few possessions she was anxious to hold
         on to were just such glasses which, for her, recalled the days of her poverty.
      

      
      Arthur Miller attended public school (PS 24) on 111th Street between Fifth Avenue and Lenox Avenue, a strict institution where
         lessons were reinforced with the edge of a ruler. On the corner was a candy store where he and his fellow pupils could buy ‘two-cent plains’. He
         was slow to learn. It had even taken him time to master the art of tying his shoes. He found it difficult to tell the time,
         mystified by the cardboard clock face demonstrated by his teacher, Miss Summers. Seventy years later, he recalled little in
         the way of real education but an emphasis on deportment and handwriting. The Palmer Method, aided or not by a smart blow from
         the ruler, seems to have left little trace, since his handwriting then and later remained difficult to decipher. It was, however,
         the kind of education his mother, who had attended the same school, valued.
      

      
      Miller was three years younger than his blue-eyed, pale-skinned brother Kermit, who, as an infantry captain, would one day
         carry a man on his back in freezing weather until he found medical help, coming close to losing his feet through frostbite.
         Six years younger there was Joan, who nearly died when an infection from a horsefly bite drove her temperature up to a dangerous
         level and the family waited for the end.
      

      
      As a child, Miller played on the oriental carpet in the living room and dreamed of being a soldier, especially since his mother’s
         Uncle Moe had brought a German helmet back from the war, a war in which he had driven an ammunition wagon to the Front behind
         mules, only to be gassed and return a broken man, already incubating the tuberculosis that would kill him. ‘I used to walk
         around wearing that [helmet] when I was six years old. Being a soldier was the greatest thing you could do.’ Until he was
         twelve or thirteen Miller wanted to go to West Point: ‘It was a strong thing, a very strong image, of being an officer in
         the army.’59 He never made it but, fifty years later, did go to West Point to denounce the Vietnam War in front of a hall full of uniformed
         officers.
      

      
      More practically, he was tempted to be a Boy Scout, not least because, as Miller recalled, he had seen a photograph in the
         New York Times of Commander Byrd, famous for his exploits in Antarctica, with a group of sea scouts. The young Arthur Miller was, he insisted,
         ‘absolutely a regular citizen’. When he was not fantasizing about his military future, he was reading The Book of Knowledge and marvelling at the world conjured up by Charles Dickens. Slowly, he was absorbing an aesthetic world by indirection and
         partly, he thought, because of the nature of the 1920s with its popular music and movies. He was surrounded by art, in the
         form of magazines, and hence never thought of it as remote, except that he was aware of another kind that resided in museums
         and was, ultimately, none of his business. Art, in all its forms, was to do with fame and excitement and was part of a society
         full of a sense of its own energy.
      

      
      The time came when he was at last granted access to a certain mystery, when a man arrived to begin his education in Hebrew,
         ‘a language already associated in my mind with magic’. As he later explained:
      

      
      
         I was six or seven years old and my translator was an ancient man with a long yellowed beard who smelled of strong snuff tobacco.
            I have never been good at memorizing and certainly wasn’t then, especially Hebrew words. So I had to piece together, syllable
            by syllable, the creation of the world, gradually filling out the empty spaces like a jigsaw puzzle, and there was a certain
            suspense and therefore a kind of sensuality in the proceeding. It was heavy duty – learning a language and simultaneously
            how the world was made, and the magical was inevitably a relief from having to figure it all out.60

      

      
      It was a world, though, which seemed to have a hard time fitting in the story of women. As he would observe, ‘a certain darkness
         crept in with the appearance of the Mother. As a boy I was perfectly happy with Adam and God; now we had women to deal with,
         and mothers could see into a boy’s mind and know what he was thinking, which was usually something bad.’61 Yet his own mother embraced him and he could feel himself her ally even as that alliance caused him a sense of unease that
         would take him years to understand.
      

      
      These were the days of icemen with their horse-drawn carts, of butchers’ shops with live chickens waiting for their necks
         to be cut to order. To buy fish was to point out a particular flounder as it swam lazily in a tank and watch it slit open
         and eviscerated. To go shopping was to choose pickles from a barrel or horseradish run through a mincing machine. This was
         a time when laundry was boiled on the stove and then dragged to the roof for drying, when carpets were beaten on those same
         roofs by maids, so that dust would rise above streets lined with expensive cars, their chauffeurs waiting to ferry the owners
         downtown. Each day, Miller recalled, men climbed into those cars looking grave and businesslike, a ritual that in some way
         seemed a guarantee of stability, its rhythm reassuring and confident. Here was wealth, a wealth that insulated the family
         from the daily life of those downtown and, incidentally, from the gentiles, since this was a Jewish enclave.
      

      
      Admittedly, this was also an era of Klan marches and, eventually, the reality of prejudice would penetrate the Miller apartment,
         if only through the radio and newspapers; but for the moment, and for a child growing up in a family that seemed to have everything,
         this was another country. His mother prepared Jewish food, draping noodles over the back of a chair to dry – as Marilyn Monroe
         would do years later, briefly anxious, as she was, to penetrate the mysteries of a Jewish cuisine that would confirm her in
         her new, and as it turned out, temporary role as Jewish wife.
      

      
      For entertainment, there was Central Park across the road, or fireflies, released from jars on the top of their apartment
         building, flashing in the night sky. In an unpublished short story, ‘Ditchy’, Miller recalls finding a fledgling alongside a green stone in Central Park, a stone which as a child he had believed to be part of a star. He carried
         the bird to the top of his building, tied a May-bug to its leg, and watched as it spiralled down, the light going on and off
         like a blinking eye. It was on the roof, too, that he recalled seeing his first movie, a ten-minute short projected on to
         a sheet strung on a line. It was a lesson in illusion. Here, on this tabula rasa, high over New York, pictures flickered and
         stories unfolded. Life was a kaleidoscope of images.
      

      
      The young Arthur built himself a racing machine by attaching baby-carriage wheels to a soapbox, speeding down the hill, never
         quite in control. ‘Pretty good for my own making,’ he boasted to his brother, who duly repeated the phrase to him in the ensuing
         years. Later, he would try to build himself a glider in a Brooklyn basement, forgetting, somehow, that he would have to dismantle
         it to get it out. He would go on bicycle rides deeper into Harlem, once or twice toying with the idea of running away, though
         from or towards what he was never clear. Time passed slowly, each stifling summer stretching out into an indefinite future.
      

      
      His was also a protected life, although danger could come from unlikely quarters. As a child, Miller was a sleepwalker, one
         night waking up to find himself balanced on the edge of the airshaft that angled down to the ground below. He would dislike
         heights thereafter, watching appalled as his older brother jumped over those same airshafts.
      

      
      In summer, when the heat became unbearable, people would drag their mattresses out on to the iron balconies and sleep there
         in their underwear. They slept in Central Park, alarm clocks close to hand to wake them for work. The Millers were too bourgeois
         to think of doing such a thing, and sweated the night through, secure in their status. Yet extremes of weather could create
         a camaraderie in New York. For entertainment, he and his brother raced each other around the lake in Central Park, timing
         themselves with the family clock.
      

      
      Though Arthur wanted a pet, none was allowed. But there were other pleasures. In winter, children in the nearby apartments
         would wait for a red ball to be raised in the Park indicating that the ice on the pond was thick enough for skating, at which
         point they would pour out of the buildings, with mufflers round their necks, and run across the road – though the Park was
         not always entirely a safe place, as he discovered when some Italian boys stole his skates, an incident he recalls in ‘Ditchy’
         in which the tremor of fear is recaptured in middle age. It was a lesson he also quickly learned in school. To be called up
         to the blackboard was to risk losing whatever you had on your desk, so that everything had to be automatically cleared away.
         Even their apartment was robbed, annually, when the family was away at the beach. The culprit, it turned out, was the caretaker.
         And the neighbourhood was changing. Originally, it had been German and Irish. The Italians and Jews moved in later, to be followed by African-Americans
         and Hispanics. The Italians lived in an area east of Third Avenue, between 106th Street and 125th Street.
      

      
      According to his school principal, Miss Fisher, who had also taught his mother and who had kept samples of her handwriting
         pinned on the bulletin board for years, he was not well behaved, or at least not as well behaved as his older brother, and
         not very quick, or at least not as quick as his brother. Hardly surprisingly, in the circumstances, he and Kermit developed
         something of a competitive attitude to one another, though when they ran in the Park Kermit would always contrive to fall
         just short of the agreed finishing line rather than beat Arthur. Then, and later, he would lack his brother’s drive and ambition,
         even sacrificing himself so that that brother could succeed.
      

      
      Miller’s preference for sport over study would continue throughout his schooldays and, eventually, prejudice his chances of
         university education and, as a result of a knee injury incurred during a football match, keep him out of the war, despite
         his efforts to join up.
      

      
      Once Miss Fisher summoned his mother to discuss her younger son’s deficiencies. These included a tendency to giggle (which
         he would control by recalling the death of his Uncle Hymie). Thereafter, he struggled to behave, as Puerto Rican children
         sucked penny stalks of sugar cane in class while some of the barefoot black pupils played truant and waved to them from a
         nearby rooftop as Miss Fisher recited speeches from Julius Caesar. Later he would recall learning almost nothing in classes which tended to empty on summer days. When, later, he reached college
         he had to spend nights teaching himself spelling, fractions and algebra. At this time it was not unusual for classes to be
         mixed, with Puerto Ricans as well as black and Italian students, not least, Miller would explain, because Harlem was not as
         yet a predominantly black area but still housed some of the better restaurants, theatres and clubs – some, like the Cotton
         Club, exclusively white, apart from those who served and entertained.
      

      
      His mother would visit the Shubert Theatre four blocks away on Lenox. It was there, he recalls, that he saw his first stage
         play at about the age of eight, as later, like his father, he would go to vaudeville. At the Regent Theatre, on 116th and
         Seventh, he saw a brief drama set in Chinatown that warned of the dangers of drugs, especially to vulnerable young girls who
         evidently faced fates that were terrible if barely understandable. What, after all, was white slavery? Interestingly, this
         was a decade in which articles were published proposing that the influx of Russian Jews had been to blame for white slavery.
         He was shaken and enthralled. This, then, was theatre, a world that could seem tangibly real and that offered entertainment
         and moral instruction. Not far from the Miller apartment, meanwhile, was a Yiddish theatre, later to become the Second Canaan Baptist
         Church. In the 1920s there were twelve Yiddish theatres in New York.
      

      
      For the moment, along with the rest of America, the Millers seemed to be taking a free ride. The country was booming. And
         those who were not were out of sight, though not that far, of course, since a few blocks to the north lay a Harlem that consisted
         of more than the Cotton Club. Seen from the height of an apartment looking out over Central Park, national and private destiny
         seemed in perfect alignment.
      

      
      Downtown where the Miller money was made, there were, to be sure, still sweatshops and striving immigrants who stared through
         the glass, but what they saw was an America apparently exulting in the Jazz Age and reading the ticker-tape reports of stock-market
         rises as though these were the true word. This was the time when Christ was compared to an advertising executive (by a man
         who worked for an advertising agency which would one day be involved in NBC’s Cavalcade of America series, for which Miller would write in the early 1940s and which would be invoked by him in an early draft of his 2002 play,
         Resurrection Blues). Advertisers commandeered the sky itself, projecting slogans from rooftops on to the clouds or writing across the heavens
         in smoke as aviators twisted and turned their aircraft to spell out the virtues of familiar products.
      

      
      In their climb up the American ladder, however, the family had not entirely abandoned their religious roots, not least because
         of the brooding presence of Miller’s maternal grandfather whose piety had increased with age and leisure. Once he had left
         his business behind, the synagogue increasingly offered him a sense of significance. He now lived with his family, spending
         six months with each daughter, like a downmarket King Lear and almost as resentful. One, Augusta, lived in Manhattan, in an
         eleven-room apartment, another in what seemed a kind of exile in Brooklyn in a small house with a single bathroom. He did
         not appreciate this shuttling to and fro. The synagogue offered him the respect he felt lacking in his family life.
      

      
      Arthur Miller, then, grew up in a world in which Jewishness was part of his identity but in a way, and to an extent, that
         he could never really understand until he stepped outside the Jewish community that marked the parameters of his experience.
         In his autobiography he recalls visiting a library on Fifth Avenue and being required to give the name of his parents before
         borrowing books. He fled. Beyond the normal awkwardness of a child made to offer his parents’ first names, was a special anxiety.
         Looking up at the librarian, ‘I could not bring to voice my father’s so Jewish name, Isidore’. He pretended to have forgotten
         it. Asked what his mother called him, he refused to say. This seems only in part to be a reflection of his sensitivity about
         Jewishness. It was also, surely, the familiar response of a child of immigrants, anxious to be like those around him and hence embarrassed by a family so manifestly unlike them. His parents and grandparents spoke of another time
         and place. It was not an inheritance he wanted or that seemed particularly relevant. Yet something was being inculcated, beyond
         the rote learning of the Talmud that was for a while a resented part of his daily life. What was communicated was a sense
         of vulnerability. Seeing an accident on the street Miller and his brother pressed forward, only to be pulled back by their
         father with the warning, ‘Stay away from crowds’, crowds in Eastern Europe often presaging an attack on Jews.
      

      
      Looking back more than sixty years later, he came to feel that the fear that had stopped him naming his father to the librarian
         was ‘so deeply buried that I can only imagine I had been denying, quietly and persistently, what I surely must have been hearing
         [as a child] – stories, remarks, fear-laden vocal tones that had been moving me by inches into a beleaguered zone surrounded
         by strangers with violent hearts’.62 In a key passage in his novel Focus, that fear is rooted more securely in a Polish past, the past from which such stories had sprung. The librarian, he came
         to feel, had seemed to challenge him to identify himself as a candidate for victimization. If he could not see that at the
         time, and perhaps if it had not even been true, something of his background, something he had picked up from his family without
         even realizing it, must have made him respond as if the instinct for survival had been bred into him. Perhaps he registered
         something of the mood of the country which culminated in the passing of the Johnson anti-immigration bill in 1924, which sought
         to reduce the flow of immigrants from Eastern Europe, and hence Jews.
      

      
      In the 1960s, Miller wrote a brief memoir headed ‘In an Effort to Penetrate to Feeling’. It was not designed for publication,
         not corrected for grammar or, indeed, finished, and in it he spoke of himself in the third person as though trying to burrow
         into his consciousness from the outside. It was an effort, though, to recall what it had felt like growing up in a Jewish
         household. He remembered, for example, that whenever a pot fell off the stove or she pricked her finger with a darning needle,
         his mother would cry out: ‘A schwartz yu’r on alle goyim!’ (A black year on all gentiles). There were other warnings about
         those not of the faith and of the cabalistic symbols that seemingly had a mysterious power, but even as a young boy he found
         it hard to take these entirely seriously. He recalled a lighted cross hung on a church front over the sidewalk a few blocks
         away. His grandfather warned him never to walk beneath it, never to let its shadow fall on him even for an instant. Within
         a short time he had forgotten the supposed threat. One generation’s values meant nothing, it seemed, to another for whom such
         warnings had no roots in lived experience. Indeed, if anything, they served to open a gulf where his grandfather had thought
         to close one.
      

      
      As for his mother, at times she seemed to favour gentiles over Jews, or over certain Jews with whom she had no desire to be associated. As a result, it appeared to him that there was a crucial distinction
         to be made. The good Jew was a leader, exemplary, pure. The bad Jew was self-interested, deceitful, sexually aware. Also,
         there was some implied threat that had to be neutralized by good behaviour and achievement. There was, in short, a safety
         to be found in success, and there is surely a sense in which Miller, like his mother, internalized this. At the same time
         it meant that success could never entirely be separated from a form of self-contempt, a sense that he was being judged by
         those whose regard was never quite what it appeared. He was being the good Jew.
      

      
      In a way, he argued to himself in his draft memoir, this is no more than the situation of all children, for whom there are
         always two worlds, one within the family and one without, the latter offering possibilities and threats in equal proportion.
         But his Jewish memories were not by any means all associated with threat or fear. There was, he confessed, something curious
         but reassuring about the male world of the synagogue, about a community focused on a single text. The rituals had their own
         rhythms, the mysteries a kind of oblique excitement. Even the muttered Hebrew suggested that language had a power that was
         not entirely explicable. At the 114th Street synagogue he used to sit beside his great-grandfather Barnett as he swayed back
         and forth in prayer.
      

      
      The synagogue on Seventh Avenue – the Ansche Chesed synagogue – which had moved north from Beakman Place near 50th Street
         in 1893, had a German Conservative Orthodox congregation. It was one of the grandest in Harlem. In 1910 the rabbi, Jacob Kahn,
         had replaced German-born Gustav Hausman, dismissed for ‘not possessing the spiritual uplift which a spiritual leader and religious
         teacher must have’. The new rabbi urged the study of Hebrew and inspired a religious awakening.63 The building itself, designed by Edward Shire, was imposing and aimed to reflect the wealth of those who attended it. It
         had a neo-classical porch behind six tall columns supporting a pediment with a decalogue representing the ten commandments.
         Its cornerstone was dated 1908 and 5668, the latter according to the Hebrew calendar. It was designed to impress. When, in
         the late 1920s, the wealthy moved away, Ansche Chesed followed them to the west side of the Park.
      

      
      His maternal great-grandfather, six foot four and with a white beard stained with chewing tobacco, was a spinner of stories,
         and though he died before Miller went to school, sixty-five years later he still recalled not so much the content of those
         stories, often recounted in Yiddish, as their intoxicating power, their ability to place the teller at the centre of the group.
         This was the man who, on his deathbed, accused the young rabbi who attended him of stealing diamonds from under his pillow.
         Rising from his bed, he walked to the 114th Street synagogue and confronted him, beating him with a stick until he confessed. He then returned to his bed, distributed the diamonds to his family, and died. And though this has the feel
         of a story shaped and polished like the diamonds it features, it seems clear that what a young Arthur Miller later recalled
         was the fascination of mere experience given form and point by a man whose power came in part from language. This was a man
         who, in the 1920s, had a special seat in the synagogue and who, in hot weather, when the door was left open, would rock back
         and forth ‘with all the sorrows of Israel’, occasionally spitting chewing tobacco out on to the fire escape.
      

      
      Miller later commented on a moment of revelation when, in researching The Crucible in Salem, he suddenly recognized that there was a connection between the severe Puritans, blending a faith in God and justice,
         a belief in rational process and a dangerous arbitrariness, and the Jewish patriarchs. Those Puritan divines were, he came
         to feel, ‘ur-Hebrews, with the same fierce idealism, devotion to God, tendency to legalistic reductiveness, the same longings
         for the pure and intellectually elegant argument. And God was driving them as crazy as He did the Jews trying to maintain
         their uniquely stainless vessel of faith in Him.’ A painting of the Puritan judges, seen in the Historical Society at Salem,
         seemed suddenly to bring to mind the figures he had seen dancing in the 114th Street synagogue: ‘I knew instantly what the
         connection was: the moral intensity of the Jews and the clan’s defensiveness against pollution from outside the ranks . .
         . I understood Salem in that flash, it was suddenly my own inheritance.’64

      
      Miller was eleven when his great-grandfather died, and he later recalled the scene which took place in a large Flatbush house.
         Men from the synagogue sat drinking seltzer mixed with red wine while his mother told a familiar story about Madame Lupescu
         being the brains behind the King of Rumania, an obsession of hers for reasons he could never understand. Outside was a row
         of cars, a few with chauffeurs. The emotions of the occasion were beyond him, though first his father and then his mother
         burst into tears. His uncles cried into handkerchiefs, all, except one, tall and balding, whose wife had left him. The young
         Arthur was then taken upstairs to witness his great-grandfather’s death.
      

      
      The old man seemed small. He had a Vandyke beard and wore a white satin yarmulke on his white hair. They all waited until
         at last he struggled to rise up in the bed, his blue eyes open wide. The old man looked round at the men gathered around him,
         spoke his last words – ‘So many hats?’ – fell back and died. Only then were the women allowed in. His grandmother entered,
         straightening her wig. Everyone stopped crying, everyone but Arthur, who chose this moment to show the emotion he had seen
         but not felt. His brother instantly hissed him to stop.
      

      
      There is perhaps something rather too neat about the surreal last words of this aged patriarch. When Miller’s maternal grandfather
         died he, too, supposedly obliged with a memorable phrase. By then he had only a single dollar in the bank and expired with the words, ‘So
         I am even.’
      

      
      At the age of twelve much was a mystery to Miller, not least sex. He was bewildered by the thought of men and women in bed
         together. Girls were, he confessed, a race apart. He was embarrassed if one even looked in his direction. In the synagogue
         women were separated from the men, watching from the balcony as though the rites performed below were not primarily for them.
         Yet he was always drawn to their company.
      

      
      His Uncle ‘Lou’, in fact Manny Newman, one of the two uncles who had moved to Brooklyn in the early 1920s, had no inhibitions
         with women, his wife a blowsy figure, sexually provocative, with two sons virile and themselves successful with the girls.
         When Miller was a child, he had quietly envied them. He wore clothes from Fifth Avenue stores; their sweatshirts and bell-bottom
         pants came from Sears. He liked theirs better. Lou was an incorrigible liar. According to Augusta, he was ‘so full of shit
         he’s a danger to the block’, though in the end he proved a greater danger to himself, finally committing suicide. Beyond anything,
         however, he wanted success for his boys. If they needed books to study they would be liberated from stores or libraries.
      

      
      As young boys, Miller and Kermit would join their uncle and cousins on camping trips which sometimes had more to offer than
         an introduction to the kind of nature they had been expecting. On one such a young woman appeared in the apple orchard where
         they had pitched their tents and offered her services to Buddy Newman. They held a collection and he disappeared into the
         tent with her, to be followed by Kermit Miller. Arthur, then twelve, was not invited, and sat in his tent holding his breath,
         unsure what exactly it was that he was missing. And it was this uncle who kept a box of pornographic cards in the closet.
         On New Year’s Eve, when relatives came round to party, he would pass these photographs around. Some seventy years later, this
         scene would be recalled in his play Broken Glass as the sexually impotent Phillip Gellburg is taunted with memories of just such an occasion. Little in Miller’s life would
         be lost.
      

      
      Isidore Miller was heavily committed on a stock market that, it was presumed, would rise for ever. It was an unreal world,
         a world of bonds and share certificates and ticker-tape fantasies. At least on paper, he grew richer every day. The business
         of manufacturing women’s coats seemed increasingly beside the point. His attention switched from the Lower East Side to Wall
         Street. Money simply materialized. Then it all changed. 1929 marked a sharp divide not only in the fortunes of the Miller
         family but in American experience.
      

      
      One of those interviewed by Studs Terkel for his book on the Depression, Hard Times, that would later be one of the inspirations behind Miller’s The American Clock, described it as like a thunderclap. Everybody was stunned. Nobody knew what it was about. ‘The Street had general confusion.
         They didn’t understand it any more than anybody else. They thought something would be announced.’65 As Terkel rhetorically asks, who now could make such an announcement?
      

      
      The Depression was cataclysmic. This was an economy that had developed a high-wire act without a safety net. There was no
         social security, no unemployment benefit. There were few unions and those there were seemed powerless before economic forces
         that swept jobs away overnight. The literal step into the void taken by some financiers, as they plummeted down to the street
         from their offices above the city, was merely a metaphor for the precipitate downward plunge of those who suddenly discovered
         all support taken away, who found their social authority and very identity under threat. Isidore Miller’s company foundered,
         leaving him bewildered, no longer in command of his fate, no longer able to invest in the sons who were to have been the mark
         of his achievement.
      

      
      An historical process seemed to have run its course. Capitalism had apparently exhausted itself in its own circularities of
         demand and consumption and collapsed in the face of forces to which it had no response. As Edmund Wilson was to remark, ‘The
         stock-market crash was to count for us almost like a rending of the earth in preparation for the Day of Judgement.’ If it
         came as a shock to those committed to the American system, however, to others it implied the welcome collapse of capitalism.
         As Wilson observed:
      

      
      
         One couldn’t help being exhilarated at the sudden unexpected collapse of that stupid gigantic fraud. It gave us a new sense
            of freedom . . . a new sense of power to find ourselves still carrying on while the bankers, for a change, were taking a beating.
            With a businessman’s president in the White House, who kept telling us . . . that the system was perfectly sound, who sent
            General Douglas MacArthur to burn the camp of the unemployed war veterans who had come to appeal to Washington, we wondered
            about the survival of representative American institutions; and we became more and more impressed by the achievements of the
            Soviet Union.66

      

      
      At fourteen, Miller, now six feet tall and very thin, registered the Depression on a more personal level, but within three
         years he would share Wilson’s convictions. Nor was this to be simply a financial disaster. The Crash would redefine the real.
         There is a metaphysics to sudden loss of any kind. It carries with it a knowledge that nothing, perhaps, is secure, and for
         Jewish immigrants that knowledge tapped into deeper insecurities. Certainly, in interviews and in many of his plays – most
         obviously the autobiographical The American Clock – the Depression would stand out as a national disaster beyond all others, bar the Civil War. For him, it was never simply
         a matter of money. It was the root of emotional collapse, of social and political upheaval, and of a shift in the moral and
         ontological ground on which Americans believed themselves to stand.
      

      
      Why did it sink its roots so deep into his sensibility? It was, he said later, because the Depression was ‘my time’. When
         ‘you’re fourteen or fifteen you walk into a moment of history. It’s your most sensitive moment of consciousness. That’s when
         the world is most inevitable, when you have least perspective on it and consequently it reaches in deeper than anything else.’67 The Depression taught him that no system was reliable, that everything could disappear. It fostered a feeling of helplessness
         in the Miller family and a knowledge that, like so many others, they had collaborated in their own fall. They had believed
         in the something-for-nothing ethos of the 1920s. A solid business had seemingly slipped through their fingers, and that was,
         in some mysterious way, their fault or, more precisely, Isidore Miller’s fault, since his wife had been unaware of the extent
         of their market exposure. They had embraced the unreality of paper fortunes and were now to be exiled to Brooklyn as a result,
         a Brooklyn where their poor relations lived. As Miller later explained:
      

      
      
         My father made the great discovery, made by better men than he, that you could make more money on the stock market than you
            could manufacturing. You could make eighty–ninety per cent in six months. Well, you could not do that in a legitimate business.
            It was impossible, unless you were mining gold. So more and more of the capital of these businesses went into the stock market,
            leaving them less and less operating capital. But they were all relying on the ever-rising stock market. So, whenever they
            needed the cash, they would sell some stock. They would sell it at a much higher price than they had bought it for. So everybody
            was happy.
         

      

      
      When the market turned, however, they ‘would have to sell stock at a lower price than they had bought it for. So they took
         a distinct loss. And then, pretty soon, they needed more cash, because the market was drying up. People were losing their
         jobs. The amount of purchasing going on was less and less and, within a year or so, a lot of businesses simply folded up.’
         The Millers’ business collapsed. ‘It was humiliating.’68 When, thirty years later, in March 1961, Augusta Miller died of a heart ailment, her husband Isidore was described in the
         newspaper notices as a salesman, what he had been just a few years after arriving in the country.
      

      
      As the Depression deepened, so family tensions increased. For Miller himself, loyalties were not so much divided as oscillating
         and already his own future was seeming less clear. Like his father-in-law before him, Isidore declared bankruptcy but, unlike him, attempted to pay his debts. He acted out of a sense of honour, out of a desire to keep
         his good name, but the result was potentially ruinous and ultimately futile.
      

      
      In After the Fall, in a play fragment he wrote in the late 1960s and in The American Clock, Miller returns to the trauma of this time and to the arguments he overheard as his father’s authority was stripped away
         along with his money. His father had sold his stocks and cashed in his insurance, as well as his wife’s bonds. In After the Fall the mother cries out, ‘You throw good money after bad? Are you some kind of moron?’ He replies, ‘You don’t walk away from
         a business; I came to this country with a tag around my neck like a package in the bottom of the boat!’ Her reply – ‘I should
         have run the day I met you . . . I should have done what my sisters did, tell my parents to go to hell and thought of myself
         for once! I should have run for my life! . . . I ought to get a divorce!’ – serves in the play, as it did in Miller’s life,
         as a symbol of that abandonment, that cruelty, that broken connection, which destroys the faith of the child who hears it.
         Beyond that, it becomes an image of a wider collapse of mutuality. All of this came directly from his family life. He heard
         the arguments, the accusations and the contempt in his mother’s voice, the sense of defeat and humiliation in his father’s.
         As Quentin/Miller asks, in a speech from After the Fall cut from the final version, ‘Aren’t there mothers who keep dissatisfaction hidden to the grave, and do not split the faith
         of sons until they go in guilt of what they did not do?’69

      
      Miller’s mother was for many years at the centre of his emotional life. He could terrify himself with the thought that he
         could lose her while finding it unimaginable that such a moment would ever come. Yet at some level he knew he was part of
         a battle going on above his head. The children were a compensation for something lost along the way. Married to an illiterate
         man, who at moments could shame her and who came to represent her failed opportunities, Augusta turned to them, encouraging
         them, as all mothers do, but, in part at least, he came to feel, because they were weapons in some battle never to be fully
         understood. When she spoke with awe about writers, those who succeeded not by accumulating money but by creating something
         genuinely new in the world, he knew that it was both a criticism of his father and the expression of a heartfelt hope that
         he and his brother might achieve something similar, and in escaping carry her with them.
      

      
      When he began to write it was of his mother he thought. It was to her he would send letters from college; after all, his father
         could not read them. At the same time, he would begin to resent the fact that somehow he was performing a role in some drama
         not of his own devising. So it was that in time a gulf would open between them, between two people who loved one another but
         where love would begin to seem instrumental, as if he were working in some sense on her behalf and as if there was a kind
         of contract whereby he would redeem her from her inner loneliness and sense of waste. And slowly that burden began to pull them apart
         even as they were both bewildered that such a bond could be broken.
      

      
      In a sense the journey from unquestioned love to something approaching an objectivity qualified by that same love, and guilt,
         is a familiar one. It is complicated here by the sense of her despair over her marriage and the weight she accordingly placed
         on her children. It is complicated, too, by Miller’s awareness of the role into which he had been cast, a role close enough
         to his own emotional needs to leave him with a residue of guilt. For he, too, felt distant from his father, uncultured, uncultivated,
         who required of him only success, a success which in truth he craved but which he came to suspect as the source of the false
         values that had warped his own family and defined the society with which he felt increasingly at odds.
      

      
      He, too, yearned to become the artistic genius admired by his mother, and hence, when, later, he bought into Freudian theory,
         that placed him in an ambivalent relationship to the woman who had effectively wooed him away from her husband. There was,
         perhaps, more than one reason for the references to patricide and incest that scatter his writings.
      

      
      The family were not impoverished immediately, nor did the money quite disappear overnight, but it was gone within the year.
         The move from Manhattan came as a shock, though less so for Arthur and Kermit for whom the chauffeur-driven car was scarcely
         part of their daily experience. Nonetheless, that seven-seat National automobile had set them apart. The Harlem apartment
         had cost $135 a month, where other middle-class families were paying thirty or forty. There was also the summer cottage on
         the white sandy beach at Far Rockaway, with a view of the sea, where Miller had once been bitten on the finger by an organ
         grinder’s monkey. That all went: chauffeur, car, cottage. Suddenly, they were living in a world in which, as Miller would
         remark, there was nobody running the store. To the later bafflement of his wife, Kermit was withdrawn from the Townsend Harris
         School whose three-year programme was designed for those who scored highly on the Regents examinations (a set of standardised
         tests used in New York schools) and who had ambitions to go to City College. He could have continued, travelling in by subway,
         but his mother seems to have decided to make a complete break.
      

      
      In 2007 Kermit’s son Ross, an academic and biographer, observed: ‘My father was pulled from Townsend Harris because it became
         inconvenient for his parents. Once they moved to Brooklyn he transferred to James Madison [High School]. This was a blow to
         my father. But in his usual stoical manner he accepted the decision. My mother understood it this way: Working class families
         sacrifice for their children; middle class families expect their children to sacrifice for them.’70

      
      
      Alfred Kazin once remarked that the move from Brooklyn to Manhattan was the longest trip in the world. It was a sign that
         you had finally made it. The Millers were going the other way, against the logic, so it appeared, that had once taken them
         from the Lower East Side to the top of Central Park. Now they were moving to the periphery, away from money, away from power.
         It was a symbol of failure. As it happens, however, this was not the exile it seemed, at least not for a young man with literary
         ambitions. A number of those who were to shape American literary life also grew up in Brooklyn, so that Hannah Arendt would
         later speak of ‘the boys from over the bridges’.
      

      
      Besides which, Jewish Harlem had been steadily declining in numbers throughout the 1920s, from 160,000 in 1923 to 88,000 in
         1927 and 25,000 in 1930. Later estimates, Jeffrey S. Gurock has suggested, put the figure closer to 5,000.71 Where did they go? Some went to the Upper West Side, and some to Brooklyn, which had its wealthy sections – Flatbush – as
         well as its poor. For the Millers, though, theirs did not seem part of a general population shift but exile; however, many
         decades later Joan would return to live in a luxury apartment on Central Park West, and her brother Arthur to own a pied-à-terre
         in the East 70s.
      

      
      When his maternal grandmother, Rose, died, they moved first to their half of a sizeable two-family house on Ocean Parkway
         and then, in order to be close to other members of Augusta’s family, to a small six-room frame house at 1350 East 3rd Street,
         in the Midwood section of Brooklyn. One of these relatives was her sister who, with her husband Manny, had moved down from
         the north of New York State and spoke in a rural way, saying ‘road’ for ‘street’ and ‘fetch’ for ‘carry’. He had, Miller later
         discovered from his son, only wanted a business for his boys, one of whom, according to an unpublished and fictionalised memoir,
         was a fantasist while the other was earning next to nothing down in New Mexico – Death of a Salesman’s Happy and Biff Loman in embryo. Miller’s parents had slipped Manny money from time to time, as Charley would help Willy
         in that same play, so that for those who would later wonder if Willy was based on Isidore Miller, Manny was a more plausible
         model.
      

      
      East 3rd Street was a cul-de-sac ending at the Friends’ School Athletic Field, where a young Arthur Miller would sometimes
         walk behind the motorized mower for twenty-five cents a day. It was there, too, that he would teach his sister to play tennis,
         she squeezing through the gap left by a padlocked gate or, later, climbing the mesh fence and throwing herself down into his
         waiting arms. Beyond lay a cemetery. The house, of clapboard and brick, consisted of three bedrooms, a bathroom, kitchen,
         dining room and living room. Later the gables would be painted white, but at the time few chose to paint them at all. There
         was a small hedge in front, now gone. The house cost five thousand dollars and was bought with a large mortgage, payments on which became a monthly torment. The three bathrooms
         of their Manhattan apartment, with its views across the city, had shrunk to one. The city was now a distant prospect.
      

      
      For the Millers, it represented a fall from grace. For others, though, it was a step up from the slums in which they had been
         trapped. In some ways, indeed, this kind of neighbourhood lay at the heart of the American experience. It was a modest house.
         Even a teenage Arthur Miller could reach out his arms and nearly touch the next one. It was the kind of house, though, in
         which many Americans raised their families. It was, Miller later said, Willy Loman territory. The streets were as muddy as
         Russian roads. People caught rabbits and snakes in traps and stored sacks of potatoes in their cellars. Children walked to
         school through tomato fields rented by Italian families. It was a village with village crimes. He and others would steal from
         the local candy store and play handball against the wall of the druggist’s store, breaking his window.
      

      
      By the end of the 1930s one-third of the borough’s population – 850,000 people – would be Jewish, half the city’s Jews. It
         was by no means a poor area. Some neighbourhoods had wide streets and elegant houses; others were more constrained. East 3rd
         Street was one such and certainly a drastic contrast with what had gone before, an eloquent symbol of the reversal of the
         family’s fortunes.
      

      
      From here the elevated Culver Line, its wooden carriages heated with coal-fired iron stoves in winter, ran towards Coney Island,
         two and a half miles distant, the place where a ten-year-old Joseph Heller was growing up. Its racketing rhythm could be heard
         from East 3rd Street. Indeed it still runs a bare hundred yards away and was clearly visible from the Miller backyard. Long
         steel stairs led up to the station. In summer it was possible to open the doors and ride in the open air. Alfred Kazin recalled
         how it felt:
      

      
      
         Groaning its way past a thousand old Brooklyn red fronts and tranquil awnings, that old train could never go slowly enough
            for me as I stood on the open platform between the cars, holding on to the gate . . . As we came back at night . . . the great
            reward of the long parched day, far better than any massed and arid beach, was the chance to stand up there between the cars
            . . . In the summer night the city had an easy unstitched look – people sat on the corner watching the flies buzz around the
            street lamps, or at bedroom windows openly yawning as they stared past us.72

      

      
      Miller’s aunts and uncles had moved to Brooklyn in the immediate aftermath of the First World War when it was virtually countrified.
         It still had a rural feel to it in the early 1930s. There were few of the conveniences of the city. ‘Every twenty blocks or
         so there would be a grocery store, and people bought food in large quantities, because you didn’t just jump into a car and go shopping then. They bought twenty-five-pound
         bags of potatoes and ten cabbages.’ Families, especially the Italian ones, grew their own vegetables and raised their own
         animals. There was even hunting, of a minor kind (squirrels and small game), in the woods. Manhattan was a nickel’s ride away
         in one direction, while Miller and his cousins would rise at four in the morning and climb around the Culver Line turnstiles,
         to go fishing for sea bass and flounder off the rocks at Coney Island, the breakwaters that curve out from the white sand.
         In truth, in 2004 Miller would admit that all too often the hook became stuck in those rocks and he ‘never caught anything’.
      

      
      To a boy in his mid-teens, Brooklyn represented a release. He had cousins there, poorer, but

      
      
         terrific athletes . . . Their parents bought them these awful cheap shoes which I thought were just terrific. They were punctured
            with all kinds of designs in the front; they cost two dollars a pair. My shoes were eight dollars, miserable high-class shoes.
            There was space there. Brooklyn then had empty lots so that you could play football, or baseball. You could get lost. There
            were areas that still had not been cut up into streets; there were woods, and I loved that.73

      

      
      He played football on a vacant lot on Avenue M and Gravesend Avenue and skated at the rink on Ocean Parkway. At the East 3rd
         Street house he dug up the small backyard, which consisted of infill, littered with cans and bottles, and planted tulips.
         In 1931 he added two trees, a pear and an apple, with just enough distance between them so that one day a hammock could be
         hung there. The apple tree blew down in a storm, as would the apple tree in All My Sons, whereas when he returned nearly fifty years later the pear tree had grown as high as the house. In 2004, the modest house
         was occupied by orthodox Jews, as were those alongside it. An extension had been added, but the pear tree still stood. Indeed,
         each year the family blessed it. They had themselves lived there for more than twenty years but knew nothing of its past.
         They did, though, know of Willy Loman, but not of the fact that their house was the one in which Miller saw his ageing salesman
         as living out his last twenty-four hours on earth.
      

      
      Like his brother, Miller went to the James Madison High School, between Avenue P and Quentin Road, being enrolled a year before
         finishing grammar school. He frequently jogged there, anxious to get on the track team rather than shine academically. Later,
         he transferred to the newly opened Abraham Lincoln High School on Ocean Parkway near Shore Parkway, where, a slight hundred-and-twenty-pound
         figure, he played end in the second squad of the football team, picking up a torn ligament, the injury that years later kept
         him out of the army. Today, the school sports field acknowledges the financial support of Donald Trump’s parents. Beyond sport,
         though, Miller always felt something of an outsider, later observing that he had never had much sense of what was going on.
         If there was a photography club he only heard about it in the middle of the term and never discovered where it met. He was,
         he confessed, a ‘bewildered’ student. The Year Book may have listed his ambition to go to Stanford University, but he certainly
         did nothing to prepare himself for this.
      

      
      With the Depression, things had begun to change. When the Bank of the United States closed (a Jewish-owned bank, Alfred Kazin
         lamented), the line of desperate depositors stretched for five blocks along Avenue J, only blocks from the Miller home. It
         had held deposits of one-fifth of New York Jews and was the largest financial institution ever to suspend payments. It had
         sixty branches in New York and four hundred thousand depositors, mostly Jewish. Rumour in the Jewish community suggested that
         anti-Semitic banking officials had allowed it to fail.74 Miller had himself withdrawn his twelve-dollar deposit only the day before. His sense of triumph was short-lived, however,
         when the bicycle he had bought from his friend Joey Backus, a Columbia Racer, was stolen the next day.
      

      
      Years later, after writing about this incident in his autobiography, he was riding a somewhat dilapidated bicycle through
         New York when a truck drew up beside him and the driver shouted, ‘Hey, Miller! At least no one’s gonna steal that one.’ Now,
         on the way to and from school, he would pass the unemployed, sitting on the front stoops of houses. Fellow students began
         to drop out, looking for work. Stores began to close; fewer people came off the Culver Line at Avenue M. Long after, he would
         write a radio play about the desperation of a subway train driver, driven crazy by the monotony of his journey from Coney
         Island to Manhattan. But at least subway train drivers had jobs, as did postmen, who now became envied figures. Meanwhile,
         the mortgage man came to call at the Millers’, only to be deflected with coffee and cake. This was not poverty. It was genteel
         desperation of the kind Tennessee Williams dramatized in The Glass Menagerie, and though Augusta Miller was a long way removed from Amanda Wingfield she, too, bore the burden of sustaining the family,
         concealing her own desperation from those closest to her.
      

      
      Miller was forced to share a room with his maternal grandfather. The old man would lay his head on four pillows, each smaller
         than the one beneath, spending five minutes arranging those pillows so that they were exactly in the middle of the bed. He
         would fold his socks carefully before dropping them in the laundry basket. He paid four dollars a week rent and insisted on
         sitting at the head of the table. One effect of the Depression was to reassemble families no longer able to sustain themselves in their separate homes. The generations were suddenly forced on one another.
         Babies and great-grandparents tussled for the same space. A lifetime’s possessions had to be pushed into a single set of drawers.
         And as the space shrank so suppressed tensions bubbled to the surface. Referred to contemptuously by his father as the ‘lodger’,
         Miller’s grandfather began to be the source of general irritation. He had arrived with his own soup plate, bigger than those
         used in the Miller household, and insisted on it being filled to the brim. Each week he would remind Augusta of the Sabbath,
         as though she might otherwise forget it.
      

      
      To Miller, he had something of the air of a Prussian general, his speech scattered with German and Yiddish expressions. He
         dressed immaculately and wore a black satin skullcap, with a sharp crease. On hot days he would change his eyeglasses, looking
         for what he calls a cool pair. For him, there were winter eyeglasses and summer eyeglasses. When the family moved to Brooklyn,
         he had carried with him more furniture than their new house justified. This he now fussily rearranged. Augusta was afraid
         of him and rushed to greet him each morning as he descended at seven-thirty.
      

      
      He was a remnant from another world, the carrier of traditions, prejudices, language, other ways of doing things. He had no
         desire to be swallowed by the new culture, at least not now he was retired and business no longer required compromises. Like
         her older brother, Joan Copeland, Arthur’s sister, remembered her grandfather as speaking German and Yiddish or a heavily
         accented English: ‘If you wanted to put an advertisement in the newspaper about what you had to sell it would be called an
         “offertisement”.’ He was dictatorial: ‘Mother was expected to jump whenever he said “jump”.’ This, she suspected, was the
         source of her father’s resentment. His authority was already undermined by the loss of his business and his reliance on his
         wife’s money. The idea of the old man setting himself up as a patriarch infuriated him. In his first student play Miller would
         make fun of him but in the East 3rd Street house he was the source of genuine friction.
      

      
      Grandpa Barnett was also deeply religious. Joan later remarked that he ‘spent most of his days, as I recall, in the temple,
         praying hard to live longer . . . because the world would stop if Grandpa didn’t go to the temple’.75 Her brother remembered him in the family home, rocking to and fro. Such behaviour, along with the rituals of the synagogue,
         dietary rules, shared ceremonies, were, perhaps, offered as a reproach to those who no longer saw their purpose – or saw them,
         as Miller eventually would, as evidence of precisely those socially and morally reactionary traditions that had to be abandoned
         in the name of a new religion of man.
      

      
      For the time being, though, Augusta’s father was simply a kind of ancient presence, accepted by the young Arthur, like everything
         else, as part of a given world. Having once owned his own business, Barnett offered advice to his son-in-law, as his business failed, so that there was a constant tension between the two men. As Miller explained, ‘He had
         that Germanic, dictatorial nature. Everything had to be exactly so. He was very clean. Everything around him was spotless.’76

      
      In 1943, and perhaps significantly in a Jewish monthly called New Currents: A Jewish Monthly, Miller, described as a ‘young short story and radio writer’, published an ironic memoir of his grandfather, broad-shouldered
         and heavy, with ‘a belly that forced him to stand stiffly erect, a Prussian head as bald as a stone’.77 In this, he recalled him announcing: ‘Roosevelt . . . is a great man. Grossartik. Like Abraham Lincoln, like Franz Joseph he is’, Franz Joseph, supposedly, having ridden into his village throwing silver
         kronen to the people including the Jews. Though his background should have precluded support for a man whose policies smacked of socialism, he was not out
         of step. In 1932 almost three-quarters of New York Jews had voted for Roosevelt. By 1940 the figure was nearly 90 per cent.
         He was, though, a little confused in his political views. Miller recalled him suggesting that his grandson should go to Russia,
         a land of opportunity, until he learned that private businesses were illegal there. He also remembered how the old man would
         stride manfully along the sidewalk of Avenue M until he reached the family home, whereupon he began to move with difficulty
         so that they would be aware of his suffering. He drank ‘gallons of mineral water’, and ate as many chops as there were. On
         his deathbed he had announced that he wanted a wider burial plot than had been set aside, asking his relatives to contribute
         the difference. Then, changing his mind, he dressed and announced that he was going to have a new suit made, ‘with two pairs
         of pants’. He died three weeks later, with eleven suits in his closet. The new one was delivered on the day of his death.
      

      
      Miller’s paternal grandfather, by contrast, had held on to much of his money, and done nothing to help his relatives as they
         slid into debt, a fact that remained a mystery to Miller as it did to his brother, though it was the cause of considerable
         and understandable bitterness between Isidore and Augusta, who never got on with her mother-in-law either, not least because
         Isidore who, as a child, had been effectively abandoned by them, seemed intent on buying the love they failed to offer. When
         they had still had money, if he had given his wife a jewelled bracelet he also felt obliged to give one to his mother. Even
         when there were no longer any jewelled bracelets to give, the relationship between Augusta and her mother-in-law remained
         fraught. ‘[She] says there’s a Depression going on,’ remarks the character based on Augusta in The American Clock. ‘Meantime you can go blind from the diamonds on her fingers. Which he gave her!’78

      
      Augusta also blamed her mother-in-law for sending her son out to work after only two weeks of schooling, thus ensuring his
         illiteracy. And plainly these tensions were registered by Miller, who makes his parents characters in After the Fall. In this he has the figure based on Augusta complain of her mother-in-law, ‘That’s what some women are . . . and now he goes
         and buys her a new Packard every year.’79 Isidore had put $30,000 into his brother’s business. A year later, he had to borrow to buy a coat for his daughter.
      

      
      There was never really any question of Isidore and Augusta divorcing, though they talked about it, and not only because it
         was expensive. In fact the divorce rate declined during the Depression as people clung together even in their misery, aware
         at some level that the fault did not lie with one another but with a machine that had simply ceased to work. Nonetheless,
         Augusta’s conviction that her husband was being used by his parents became ever more acute. His mother seemed, to her, to
         have no redeeming qualities, being mindlessly materialistic and wholly lacking in maternal feelings. As Joan later remarked
         to me in 1999, ‘I think that she [Augusta] always felt that they were sucking him dry.’ Her grandmother ‘had absolutely no
         feeling for what one would refer to as the finer things in life, things that my mother would have loved. She understood money
         and she understood diamonds.’ Even the simplest gesture seemed beyond her. She promised Joan an unset diamond, first for her
         sixteenth birthday, then for her engagement, then for her marriage, then for her first child. It was never forthcoming. Her
         son Isidore never having been her favourite, ‘she kept taking from him and demanding from him things that really belonged
         to my mother’.
      

      
      Miller’s parents were caught in a drama for which they did not have primary responsibility, but the fault lines that had always
         existed now opened and certainties began to fade as the small house, in which there was effectively no privacy, staged the
         collapse of a marriage and of the security it had once seemed to confirm.
      

      
      The portrait of Augusta offered in After the Fall is of a woman frightened at their new relative poverty, occasionally to the point of hysteria, who suddenly realizes that
         she has sacrificed her life for nothing. Yet, at the same time, she has no alternative but to battle on, improvising in the
         face of disaster. As Lee, Miller’s alter ego, remarks in The American Clock, ‘After all these years I still can’t settle with myself about my mother. In her own crazy way she was like the country.
         There was nothing she believed that she didn’t also believe the opposite . . . money obsessed her but she really longed for
         some height where she could stand and see out and around and breathe in the air of her own free life.’ She would ‘lament her
         fate as a woman: “I was born twenty years too soon,” she’d say. “They treated me like a cow, fill her up with a baby and lock
         her in for the rest of her life.”’ But then she would warn her son, as Augusta warned hers, ‘Watch out for women – when they’re
         not stupid they’re full of deceit.’
      

      
      At the same time, with all her defeats, ‘she believed to the end that the world was meant to be better.’80 She would listen to her son’s radicalism, when he returned from university in the late 1930s, and seemingly thrill to his
         vision, only to abandon it for a more patrician view. They came from poor people who became rich and now they had lost nearly
         everything, including the love which was the name they had given to contentment. The contradictory rhythm of their lives was
         that of the culture, and it is a rhythm that beats in most of Arthur Miller’s plays as hopes are betrayed, ideals compromised,
         even lives lost while at the same time a current runs the other way, raising death in the direction of tragedy, redeeming
         the broken, discovering meaning in seemingly lost lives. For hope was never entirely relinquished, and this, too, they shared
         with the country. Even the jokes, as Miller later recalled, had a certain self-conscious irony: ‘A wealthy lady is confronted
         with a beggar who holds out his hand and says, “Lady, I haven’t eaten in three days.” To which she replies, “Well, you have
         to force yourself.”’
      

      
      From time to time Isidore made another attempt to set up a business. For a while he had a small coat company on 39th Street,
         employing a dozen men who worked the sewing machines, handling thick woollen coats in the heat of summer. Miller later recalled
         one man who bit off inch-long strands of thread. By the end of the day they sprayed out from his lips like a fringe. One match
         and his mouth would have flamed. That company, too, went bankrupt. In the end it was Augusta’s efforts that would keep them
         afloat.
      

      
      Augusta’s frustration at what she saw as her wasted life turned into a bitterness at the man who could no longer support them
         and who she blamed for their predicament. She communicated her frustration to her children. After all, she had sacrificed
         her own future on the understanding that the trade involved his working for the family, ensuring the success that had cemented
         the agreement between her parents and his. Instead she was now confronted with a man who seemed powerless to intervene on
         his own behalf, let alone on behalf of the family he was supposed to head. As Miller remarked:
      

      
      
         Had I been able to side with her wholeheartedly in her disappointment with my father, my course would have been straightforward
            and probably fairly painless. But I couldn’t help blushing for him when she made him her target, since I admired his warm
            and gentle nature as much as I despaired of his illiterate mind. And her way was never straight and simple; she could veer
            suddenly and see with a blast of clarity and remorse that what had happened to him had happened to a man of a certain honor
            and uncomplaining strength. For love of me and all of us she divided us against ourselves, unknowingly, innocently, because
            she believed – and I was beginning to believe myself – that with sufficient intelligence a person could outwit the situation.
            Why couldn’t he do that?81

      


   







      

      

      Isidore had now gone through three bankruptcies in succession and often brought home less than twenty-five dollars a week,

         when he had a job. Augusta spent her time inventing costless menus while periodically succumbing to anger at herself, her

         husband, life in general and even God. Every few weeks she would take the Culver Line to Manhattan and have her fortune read

         in tea leaves. She kept an eye on astrological signs (as Kate Keller would do in an early version of All My Sons) as if it might be possible to decode the mystery of her desperation. She was not immune to the craze for mysticism, taking

         up the then current enthusiasm for ouija boards, which perhaps echoed a half-forgotten sense of Jewish mysticism. She was

         a believer in invisible forces if not entirely those acknowledged by her Jewish upbringing. She had, for example, she said,

         sensed the moment of her mother’s death (in the years to come Miller himself noted instances of an uncanny prescience in his

         own life). There was, then, some hidden structure to experience even if her daily life seemed to offer ever less evidence

         for it. In like mood, she listened to Roosevelt’s radio addresses, wanting to believe in the possibilities he summoned out

         of words. Nonetheless, this woman, battling to hold the family together, bright with intelligence, a woman of taste and ambition,

         if not now for herself then for her children, would later come to the verge of suicide, despairing of her life, dismayed at

         what her hopes had come to.

      


      

      These were the days when elevated trains rattled along Second, Third, Sixth and Ninth Avenues, carrying those lucky enough

         to have a job, with each passing year fewer in number. In 1930 there were five million unemployed in America, even after apple

         sellers were redefined as ‘employed’ on the grounds that those selling apples were earning a good living.

      


      

      For Miller, to some degree insulated in his own teenage concerns though an unwilling eavesdropper on his parents’ arguments,

         society no longer meant images in the glossy magazines, celebrating the rich and famous. It now meant the daily reality of

         men asking for work, any work, or sometimes collapsing on the sidewalk from hunger. And that in turn began to change the way

         he saw the world and literature. He found himself impatient with novels that did not situate their protagonists in a social

         world that extended beyond the family. He found himself drawn to the suggestion not merely that the world could be changed

         but that writing might in some way be implicated in that process. A hidden principle seemed to have revealed itself, even

         if for the moment he was none too clear as to what it might be. But he was seventeen before such thoughts came to him. Earlier,

         he had been told that the world was structured around religion, even if his parents showed little sign of believing so.

      


      

      Though he later remembered nothing of the speech he delivered at his bar mitzvah, at the age of thirteen, Miller did recall

         his father saying, ‘Boy, you put it over.’ Unlike his brother, he was not required to deliver his speech in three languages – English, Hebrew and German – a flourish that Miller puts down to his mother’s desire to establish the family’s

         primacy in the Miller clan. As in much else, it was the oldest child who was required to bear the burden of his parents’ ambitions

         and psychological needs. By the same token, if the younger son was thereby taught a lesson in his own relative insignificance,

         he was also the beneficiary of a certain freedom which came from diminished expectations.

      


      

      Though not really religious, Miller later confessed to having a ‘mystical feeling about religion’ as a child, though ‘I never

         could arrive at where I could stand with other people in a congregation and bow my head to some deity’. He even made a midweek

         visit to a synagogue in search of enlightenment, to the astonishment of those he encountered there playing pinochle in the

         entrance corridor. The enlightenment was not forthcoming. He revisited it several times thinking that ‘something would speak

         to me, but nothing did’.82


      

      His grandfather, Louis Barnett, ‘would have described himself as orthodox’ but his parents were not, or hardly so. While a

         practising Jew, his father was not without his scepticism, though more especially with respect to those who came to the door

         begging, presuming that a religious connection would inspire charitable feelings:

      


      

      

         My father believed that people should earn a living – that is all he was ever doing in his life – and should not go around

            begging from other people who did make a living . . . But, at the same time, he was dutiful and orthodox and he regarded the

            whole thing with respect. He could never keep his place in the prayer book, however. His mind kept wandering, and he would

            keep asking me where it was, as if I would know.83


      


      

      Arthur Miller was brought up amongst Jews until the age of nineteen, but if he went through the rituals of Jewish life it

         was in a grudging and uncomprehending way. Though he knew almost no gentiles, his instincts were to follow the codes and values

         of mainstream America. His father, likewise, refused to see their Jewish identity as lifting them out of the continuum of

         American experience, a fact that Miller sees as in part explaining his own faith in a human nature transcending the particularities

         of religion, race, nationality. As he remarked, ‘If ever any Jews should have melted into the proverbial pot, it was our family

         in the twenties.’ His own interest was in football or playing second baseman. But, he would point out, ‘escape and denial

         are hardly the monopoly of the Jews’, since ‘one of the strongest urges in the writer’s heart, and perhaps most especially

         the American’s, is to reveal what has been hidden and denied, to rend the veil’.84


      

      In 1931, another kind of escape came into his mind. Genuinely oppressed by the world around him, he decided he would go to

         sea: ‘I was crazy about that idea.’ He was inspired by the beauty of the American Line ships, berthed along the piers on the west side of Manhattan, and by his reading of Conrad. And he was assisted by a man who had taken up

         residence in his family’s basement and was an ex-purser on the SS Manhattan. He offered to get Miller a job as a cabin boy. Fortunately, or unfortunately, they were fully crewed; but the idea still

         appealed, not least because it was a means to get away from a society that seemed to him increasingly suffocating:

      


      

      

         the idea of simply disappearing from this troubled land we all lived in, which was so miserably competitive all the time,

            dog eat dog, in which you couldn’t take a deep breath, appealed. There is a mythology about that time which is directly opposite

            to my experience. It’s partly a result of literature. The mythology is that in those days people helped one another. It may

            have come out of the organization of the first unions, like the auto union and the electrical workers’ union, and that did

            take place, but outside of those movements, the competition was ruthless, it was murderous. I remember when I did work for

            my father he would ship cartons of clothes to various places in the United States and I had to take them to the post office.

            So I had a little hand truck which I pushed along Seventh Avenue to the post office in the 30s, and they closed at seven o’clock.

            So there was a line of guys with their own trucks, and they were all climbing over each other to get to that desk before it

            closed. And you had to fight your way through. It was murderous. Later on, I read John Steinbeck and he had a scene that utterly

            astonished me. The Joads were on the road and Tom, I think, went into a scraggly little grocery store and asked for bread.

            He only had a nickel and the bread cost eight cents or a dime, and the owner said, ‘That’s all right, you can take it.’ I

            read that and thought, ‘That’s terrific.’ I never saw anything like that. They would watch you starve to death slowly, in

            New York at any rate.85


      


      

      Later, a recently married Miller would go to sea in search of stories. He travelled, though, not as a seaman but as a passenger,

         paying fifty dollars for the privilege and travelling not on an American Line ship but a down-at-heel merchantman working

         the eastern seaboard.

      


      

      The story of his family’s adoption of the ex-purser turned handyman, however, would seem to contradict his scepticism about

         human solidarity. There was, it seemed, a degree of camaraderie, at least in the Miller family. One day the man had knocked

         at the family’s door, asking for work. He was not the first to seek them out. The Miller home seems to have acted as a magnet

         to the unemployed. Decades later Miller described what happened:

      


      

      

         You would see these guys come around the corner, walk down the street and turn into our house. I often looked around to see

            if there was a mark someplace! My mother was a sucker. She would give them whatever was going on the stove, a bowl of soup

            or a piece of bread with butter, whatever. They were genuine victims. They came from all over the States . . . They couldn’t give up the dream. The dream was ‘elsewhere’.

            Elsewhere had to be better.86


      


      

      The man the Miller family effectively adopted was a Lithuanian, who came for a bowl of soup and remained for a number of years.

         Augusta gave him a dollar to clean the windows and then fell asleep. When she woke the dining-room table had been laid with

         her best silver, with a folded napkin at each place, and her new, and supposedly temporary, employee was standing at the kitchen

         door in a starched white jacket with an ironed kitchen towel over his arm. The only false note was the cut-away shoes through

         which his toes protruded.

      


      

      By a process Miller himself never quite understood, the Lithuanian managed to charm his way into their basement, together

         with a bed he had found. He put curtains in the window and, in return for food, cleaned and cooked. Probably homosexual, he

         was never seen as a threat by the women of the family. He was finally ejected when he drank several gallons of wine produced

         by Miller’s maternal grandfather, only to be passed on by Augusta to one of her sisters (though in an early article this whole

         story is told as though it had happened not to the Millers themselves but to his uncle and aunt).

      


      

      Perhaps this generosity to the stranger had less to do with the special circumstances of Depression America than with habits

         learned in the shtetl and handed down to Miller’s parents. The Hebrew word for charity – tzedakah – means justice. In the Jewish tradition charity was not a gift but an obligation. Some lessons are bred in the bone.

      


      

      It was at the age of sixteen that Miller experienced his first rite of passage. He was taken by his brother Kermit and a friend

         called Oscar to a brothel in an apartment building on the Upper West Side. It was, he insists, not a particularly unusual

         initiation in the 1930s. Nor a decade later, if we are to go by the experience of another Jewish intellectual, George Steiner.

         He recalls a visit to a brothel in Cicero, Illinois, where he was initiated by a good-natured woman, of a kind much found

         in fiction but seldom encountered in real life. For Miller, it seems to have been something of a disappointing experience,

         despite the woman’s obligatory flattery of his physiognomy: It was he told me in 2001, very perfunctory. Like going to the

         dentist. Something was missing! The whole thing was very awkward. It would not be the last occasion on which he would visit

         a brothel. Next time, though, he was taken as something of a cultural tourist and not, like Chekhov, who confessed that he

         preferred ‘immoral women’.

      


      

      This was his erotic bar mitzvah in which he learned a new language and underwent a momentary trial, to emerge, supposedly, reborn, a man. If he did not feel particularly guilty he also did not

         feel transformed. The mystery turned out not to be so mysterious. His memory is that he paid for this initiation with money

         he had earned working briefly at his father’s company. No wonder he was later drawn to Freud.

      


      

      However, the whole experience had one unlooked-for consequence. Kermit’s friend was a student at the University of Michigan

         and it was he who informed Miller about the literary prizes on offer there. Forty years later, walking down Park Avenue, Miller

         encountered him again. Oscar now owned an upmarket chain of grocery stores. As Miller observed, ‘If you live long enough,

         everything connects!’

      


      

      It was in 1931, too, that Miller recognized for the first time that power had shifted from father to son. His father was forced

         to borrow money from him for a subway ride, an event clearly of such importance that it would recur in an early short story

         and then again later in his career. Three years earlier, that father had been driven to work with a fur-bordered blanket covering

         his knees. There had seemed no reason to suppose that his upward rise would ever come to a halt. Now, stripped of his own

         business, he was seemingly on his way to a new job. Yet his apparent assurance was suddenly exposed for what it was. Walking

         Arthur part of the way to school, he had stopped and asked, in an embarrassed way, if he could borrow a quarter for the subway

         fare. This man, still dressed in a topcoat and hat that a year before would have cost five hundred dollars, literally had

         no money left. Was there a job? Probably not. But as Miller would write in an early unpublished novel, a man has to try to

         sustain himself in the eyes of his son.

      


      

      In 1932 the young Arthur Miller was offered a key to the pressures he observed around him: a street encounter now inducted

         him into the mysteries of Marxism, providing him with another faith, longer-lasting, more closely related to the world he

         saw around him. These came as a revelation, not least because they caused him to re-evaluate his own father. He might now

         be stripped of his company, but had he not once employed people and lived on the profits of their labour? Miller long remembered

         the sense of shock and thrill that this re-ordering of the world gave him, and the transformation it wrought in his family

         relationships.

      


      

      His teacher in Brooklyn was a student, like him waiting his turn to play in a street handball game against the wall of Dozick’s

         drugstore. Miller was nearing his seventeenth birthday. That year unemployment reached twelve million, the national income

         had fallen by a half and eighty-five thousand businesses failed. They continued their conversation on a Coney Island beach

         where the new poor lived beneath the boardwalk in scrap-metal or wood-slat shacks. He was told that he was part of the narrative

         of history, that what had seemed so arbitrary to him was in fact the working-out of an economic law, and that, feeling adrift, he actually had his place in the scheme of things. He was, he learned, a member of the declassed

         bourgeoisie. There were two classes of people: the workers and the employers. All over the world, ‘including Brooklyn, of

         course, a revolution that would transform every country was inexorably building up steam. Things would then be produced for

         use rather than for someone’s personal profit, so there would be much more for everyone to share, and justice would reign

         everywhere . . . This day’s overturning of all I knew of the world,’ Miller explained, ‘revolutionized not only my ideas but

         also my most important relationship at the time, the one with my father. For deep down in the comradely world of the Marxist

         promise is parricide.’87 Despite the family’s economic distress, his father was still an occasional employer of labour, upholder of a system suddenly

         revealed as oppressive. He thus stood as a representative of power without purpose or justification while his failure, stood

         explained. The system was indeed bankrupt, socially and morally no less than economically.

      


      

      That conversation in 1932, with a student whose name he could not later recall, seems to have been crucial. Certainly, more

         than fifty years on he remembered it as marking a change in his attitude to his father and to society alike. At the time,

         he found himself engaging in fruitless arguments with that father, a seventeen-year-old explaining the injustice and immorality

         of capitalism to the former owner of a major company. It was, though, the very disjunction between past values and the new

         truth that was its recommendation.

      


      

      Nonetheless, when he tried out his new ideas at home he encountered nothing but bafflement and resentment. How, after all,

         could a company possibly operate without profit? It was as though he had two fathers, the familiar one who now increasingly

         dozed his way through the afternoon, and this other one who represented hostile forces, who built his success on other people’s

         misery. The fact that he had been stripped of his wealth was beside the point.

      


      

      For the son, suddenly, there was a spine to history and an explanation for that father’s fall from grace, a fall for which

         he was not really culpable, being a product of a system he did not understand. A salesman, he had, like Willy Loman, been

         sold a bill of goods. There was, now, an answer to everyone’s dilemma which went beyond the bland assurance that prosperity

         was just around the corner. More than that, Marxism gave Miller a role even as it seemed to give him a purchase on his life.

         His dissatisfaction with religion now made perfect sense as he was informed of its opiate role.

      


      

      Marxism, whatever that might turn out to be, made what nothing else at the time did – sense. It was a philosophy rather than

         a political dogma. It was a myth of new beginnings and hence hardly alien. It charged each moment with significance. Writing

         in the New Republic in 1931 Edmund Wilson had said that America had been betting on capitalism and had lost. By 1932 he was suggesting that ‘nine-tenths of our writers

         would be much better off writing propaganda for Communism than doing what they are at present: that is, writing propaganda

         for capitalism’.88


      

      Marxism was a philosophy that reinvented the future, a future that the Crash had seemed to nullify or foreshorten. And that,

         too, had an American feel to it, and it is important to realize the extent to which those drawn if not to the Communist Party

         then to the ideas it propagated could find in Marxism a familiar utopianism. It was an idea that had a special appeal to the

         young in its idealistic demand for self-sacrifice. It was a philosophy of causes. It stood for that great abstraction, the

         working man. It was not a substitute for religion; it was religion, though drained of the irrational, for at the same time this was science, history restructured as process.

      


      

      The student on the Coney Island beach explained that the Depression was a consequence of people being underpaid so that it

         was impossible for them to buy goods. Having been raised to feel that it was better to be a boss than a worker, Miller now

         met someone who suggested that it was quite the other way round. The progressive force, he learned, was not capital but labour.

         Since, at the time, he regarded himself as labour, that made him a progressive force. History, at least, it seemed, was on

         his side. The old men in the synagogue suddenly appeared still more the remnants of another world. For his part, Miller had

         begun to be sceptical about more than the political and economic system that had led them to abandon the city for a semi-rural

         suburb. The crack-up had broken something more fundamental. ‘The cleavage,’ he has said, ‘was sudden and terrific between

         the generations. At one point . . . I thought nobody, none of us, would ever go to a synagogue as adults, or Christians would

         ever go to a church again. I wondered what would happen to these buildings, because Brooklyn was full of churches and synagogues.’89


      

      So, at the age of seventeen, Miller came to regard himself as a Marxist. The Depression, he had come to feel, was only incidentally

         a matter of money. ‘Rather, it was a moral catastrophe, a violent revelation of the hypocrisies behind the facade of American

         society.’ This realization prompted moral indignation and nothing, he remarked, looking back from the late 1980s, ‘is as visionary

         and as blinding as moral indignation’. From the perspective of fifty years, he was inclined to see this as in part a product

         of adolescence which ‘is a kind of aching that only time can cure, a molten state without settled form’. The truth seemed

         to be that at a time when ‘the order of society has also melted and the old authority has shown its incompetence and hollowness,

         the way to maturity is radicalism’. It had the assurance of rationality. It rejected superstition, myth, religion, but nonetheless,

         as Miller acknowledges, ‘engaged some of the very same sinews of faith within me’.90 It offered to enrol the individual into a brotherhood as wide as the community of man. It offered the future in place of

         an exhausted past.

      


      

      In The American Clock he has Lee remark: ‘I keep trying to find the holes in Marxism but I can’t.’91 There were, though, implications to Marxism that went beyond an analysis of social class and economic condition. At its heart

         was a rejection of old authority, an inversion of the natural order. As the young girls of Salem revolted against an older

         generation, so Marxism seemed to offer power to the young. His father’s arguments with his son lacked real force precisely

         because he was himself trying to account for his own and America’s failure. Miller’s mother, meanwhile, looked on, increasingly

         bitter, getting by from day to day and placing her hope in her sons, at least one of whom seemed suddenly to be blaming his

         parents, at least in an abstract way, not only for their own plight but for that of others.

      


      

      In reacting against his father, Miller was scarcely breaking new ground. What was different was that he was part of a generation

         that increasingly believed itself blessed with a special insight, a social, economic and moral grasp of the world that could

         eventually transform that world and withstand the forces of reaction at home and abroad. The commitments born that day in

         Brooklyn carried him through college and on through the first years of his career until they eventually landed him before

         a congressional committee that cited him for contempt and brought him to the verge of a prison sentence.

      


      

      It was as though he had suddenly been offered a secret formula that made sense of the random tumble of events and relationships

         that surrounded him. The Depression that had previously seemed like an act of God was now revealed as the logical culmination

         of a failed system. Elsewhere in the world, meanwhile, other people had solved the problem, bringing human need into neat

         alignment with social theory. The failure of America was thus revealed as simultaneously a moral flaw and a failure of reason.

      


      

      Such radical ideas were not entirely discontinuous with the Jewish tradition. The fact is that some immigrant Jews brought

         with them, on the crowded immigrant ships, not only the Talmud but copies of Marx. Others were introduced to Marxism in the

         sweatshops. And such ideas did not seem alien, even to those politically at odds with them. As Vivian Gornick has said, ‘If

         a Jew growing up in this world was not a Marxist he may have scorned the socialists or shrugged his shoulders at them or argued

         bitterly with them, but he did not in the deepest part of himself disown them or find them strange, or alienating creatures.

         They were there, they were recognizable, they were us.’92 Miller later came to regard himself as a communist, as did his brother and his cousin Morton, raised to be a rabbi but preferring

         a more secular faith.

      


      

      Gornick, whose father stood on the floor of a dress factory on West 35th Street, steam-iron in hand, for thirty years, discovered

         in the Party precisely that sense of belonging and becoming that had driven Miller’s father to build a successful factory. He read the Yiddish paper

         Der Freiheit and the Daily Worker, his Jewishness and his radicalism seeming naturally allied. And it is necessary to recall just what the Party meant to so

         many. It was simultaneously a logical response to the industrial world and a moral crusade. It was to do with ideas as much

         as with passion and it offered a new identity. Gornick again:

      


      

      

         the people at my father’s kitchen table could place themselves; and if they could place themselves . . . they could become themselves. For in order to become one must first have some civilizing referent, some social boundary, some idea of nationhood.

            These people had no external nationhood; nothing in the cultures they had left, or the one to which they had come, had given

            them anything but a humiliating sense of outsidedness. The only nationhood to which they had attained was the nationhood inside

            their minds: the nationhood of the international working class. And indeed, a nation it was – complete with a sense of family,

            culture, religion, social mores, political institutions.93


      


      

      Miller’s father, of course, did not feel alienated, and, until the Depression, had a stake in his new country. If there was

         a sense of outsiderness, he believed he could insulate himself and his family with money. Under the pressure of their new

         circumstances, however, family relationships began to change. Miller felt respect for his father turn to pity. He watched,

         too, as his mother’s attitude began to change: ‘I could not avoid awareness of my mother’s anger at this waning of his powers

         . . . I must have adopted my mother’s early attitudes toward his failure, her impatience at the beginning of the calamity

         and her alarm as it got worse, and finally a certain sneering contempt for him that filtered through her voice.’94 She was the one who had to institute economies. She was the one who had to confront the mortgage man. It was her jewellery

         that had to be disposed of, piece by piece.

      


      

      Speaking in 1999, he observed:


      

      

         My mother was smart enough to understand that it was not his doing; but the frustration was so great that she could not help

            blaming him anyway. She blamed him and pitied him at the same time. It is one thing when everything is going great, and both

            people are feeling absolutely secure . . . but when suddenly they do not know from one week to the next where the money is

            going to come from, the recrimination begins and the loss of respect, loss of mutual toleration.95


      


      

      Nor were such tensions restricted to his family. Miller recalled three suicides on their block in Brooklyn, ‘ordinary people

         who could not cope’. Years later, researching for The American Clock, he was reminded not merely of the extent of unemployment but of the conviction of many that they would never work again. As he said, ‘It was not just the money .

         . . It was the illusion. These people were profound believers in the American dream and, when that stopped working, the day

         the money stopped, their identity was gone. They did not know who the hell they were.’96


      

      Miller’s contribution to the failing family finances took the form of delivering bread at four o’clock in the morning, having

         risen at three-thirty and checked the furnace where he had banked up the fire the night before, all this before going to school.

         He would stare into the flickering blue flames as though they had a life of their own, before venturing out into the bitter

         early-morning air wearing two sweaters, a mackinaw and a stocking cap, with a pair of heavy wool socks over his hands. These

         were the days when people expected fresh bread delivered ready for breakfast. In a nostalgic article of the mid-50s, called

         ‘A Boy Grew in Brooklyn’ (a reference to the novel A Tree Grows in Brooklyn by Betty Smith), he recalled slipping on the unsalted ice on Ocean Parkway and sending his delivery skidding across the street

         like ice-hockey pucks. His efforts to reassign the various rolls, bagels and loaves to the correct paper bags proved futile,

         and irate telephone calls from Ocean Parkway reached the bakery before he had finished his rounds.97 Nonetheless, he took pleasure in being alone on these errands, as he did in watching the few cars venturing out skating in

         graceful circles on the ice and the cats that would follow him along the early-morning streets.

      


      

      He worked two and a half to three hours each morning, seven days a week for four months, going to bed at eight in order to

         be up in time. The pay was four dollars, so that the twelve dollars he spent buying wood to build a porch for their house

         on East 3rd Street, early evidence of that commitment to carpentry that would last his whole life, represented a major investment.

         No wonder, perhaps, that Willy Loman, in Death of a Salesman, would be most in tune with himself when building a back porch in a play written in a tenby-twelve cabin built by its author.

         His father, by contrast, was baffled by such things, being unable to master can-openers or umbrellas as, later, Miller would

         suggest, the director Harold Clurman was incapable of peeling an orange.

      


      

      The Depression, meanwhile, bit ever deeper. Brooklyn was changing in ways that inevitably bring Death of a Salesman to mind. The woods had gone, and with them the open spaces where Miller had played football. The sense of alarm in Death of a Salesman, as refrigerator and car fail and mortgage payments fall due, surely has its roots not in the 1940s, when it is set, but

         in the 1930s when such things were an immediate and real problem for the Miller family.

      


      

      Miller’s mother felt adrift. With fancy Manhattan apartment and chauffeur-driven car gone, she would shuffle around the small

         Brooklyn house in carpet slippers ‘sighing, cursing with a sneer on her lips, weeping suddenly and then catching herself, in the winters

         feeding the furnace with as scant a shovelful of coal as will keep it burning, making meal money at high-stakes professional

         bridge games all over Midwood and Flatbush, which are sometimes raided by police’.98 In the summer heat, when no air moved, tarred roofs liquefied and the tarmac street became viscous, Augusta and her sisters

         would take off their dresses and sit in their slips, the uninsulated house offering no protection from the heat and the smell

         of the attic percolating downstairs. Miller’s Downs syndrome cousin, Carl, would bring them glasses of water, carefully wiped

         down and balanced in his hands as his mother, Betty (married to Harry Barnett), alternated between snapping at him and bursting

         into tears at the burden laid upon her.

      


      

      The boy, who had not been supposed to live into his teens, was now nearing thirty. He would dress himself immaculately each

         morning. He could give change for a dollar and run errands to the store and loved to answer the door, greeting people with

         elaborate politeness. He loved everyone, from the postman to Mae West, whom he wished to marry. He was teased to the point

         of tears while his mother struggled to love him, her maternal instincts blocked by the sense of injustice that her life had

         been so blighted. It was the memory of this boy, and the desperation of the sister who looked after him, that would lead Miller

         to decide, on the advice of his doctor, that his own Downs syndrome son, Daniel, born in January 1967, could be better served

         by being placed with others such as himself in a specialist institution rather than raised in the family home.

      


      

      Augusta was an all but professional bridge player, frequently invited to games in the hope that she would bring her less accomplished

         neighbours with her. It was a route she dare not take both because it would be an acknowledgement of despair and because she

         could not afford to lose. Instead she contented herself with afternoon games with friends, relatives and neighbours. ‘It

         was a great escape for her and she had girls over . . . and she probably won more off them than anybody else,’ according to

         her daughter Joan.

      


      

      From time to time the police would, indeed, raid these games, though without any evident enthusiasm. Everyody knew what people

         had to do to get by. Augusta’s sisters, like Tennessee Williams’s mother, and Amanda, the character based on her in The Glass Menagerie, would try, without evident conviction and certainly without success, to sell magazine subscriptions. As in The American Clock, in which Miller recalls these years, the family had to adopt strategies to avoid the man collecting the mortgage payments,

         closing the shutters even in the hottest weather and entering through the rear. Nor was this the only man soliciting money.

         Miller’s mentally damaged cousin would be sent to the door to announce to the pale-skinned Orthodox Jew looking for contributions

         to the synagogue that there was no one at home.

      


      

      

      And so the sisters waited out the Depression as if they had never grown up and married, never been disillusioned with life,

         never had to face the collapse of their dreams. Augusta had done her duty in agreeing to an arranged marriage, her sisters

         having eloped. Perhaps their disillusionment was the greater as romance gave way to dull routine. Not that they were particularly

         bright – one, memorably, being baffled by the question, ‘Who wrote Gray’s Elegy?’

      


      

      The sisters lived within blocks of one another, in virtually identical houses, waiting for the waiting to be over. Irving

         Howe, albeit from a poorer background, said of his family in the Depression that they were never really hungry but always

         anxious. For Miller’s family, too, it was not a matter of real deprivation but of a continuing and unrelenting anxiety.

      


      

      What the Depression did was to sandblast away the normal civilities, place under pressure those bonds which, disturbingly,

         often proved to have been all too fragile. Joan recalled the case of her Aunt Blanche, a college graduate, who, like Augusta,

         had been forced into an arranged marriage. Joan and she once had a conversation about her brother’s relationship with Marilyn

         Monroe:

      


      

      

         I said, ‘But he loved her, really loved her. You know what love is, for God’s sake. You love Uncle Sam’ – Uncle Sam was in

            the kitchen and this conversation was taking place in the living room – and she said, ‘Oh, no. I don’t.’ She had been married

            to this man, and she had two grown children. Her son was a doctor and her daughter was a psychologist. She said, ‘No, I never

            loved Uncle Sam. I loved a young man whom I wanted to marry but my family wouldn’t permit it. So I married Uncle Sam because

            my father wanted that.’ She said this in front of her daughter, who had never heard this. It was just astonishing what people’s

            lives turned out to be, how they permitted them to be. But the option of saying ‘No’ very rarely made itself evident to people

            of that generation.

         


      


      

      Despite the tensions between Isidore and Augusta there were lighter moments. As Joan would recall, Augusta ‘was the life of

         the party. She would entertain, she would sing and play . . . She could tell a dirty joke quicker than anybody else and she

         was a good mimic.’ She was uninhibited and generous and Isidore took pleasure in her company. But also, according to Joan,

         her mother’s life had begun to close in.

      


      

      On the wall behind the family piano in Joan’s apartment is one of her mother’s paintings: ‘I bought her some oil paints and

         I said, “I don’t want to hear any more complaints about how boring your life is.” It wasn’t until the Depression,’ however,

         Joan said, ‘that she felt she had been, so to speak, hagged by life . . . she was angry. Hers was not a monumental talent;

         it was a modest talent that was never permitted to go anywhere. But the life around her became very mean and petty. She wanted different things.’ Indeed, she became suicidal: ‘She would put her head in the

         oven, and I think she planned it. I guess she didn’t do it because she had a family to take care of. She was very loyal and

         responsible.’

      


      

      Augusta thus kept up a front, concealed her disappointments. She encouraged her youngest son to go to college in the face

         of her husband’s opposition and, when he went, Joan recalled, ‘painted all these rosy pictures of how dad’s business is doing

         so well, and I am at home seeing this almost suicidal woman behaving quite differently. So what he saw, or thought he saw,

         what was presented to him by his mother, was not at all what I was experiencing in this house.’

      


      

      There were other desperations, too. One thing to be avoided above all, in a world of economic hardship and emotional estrangement,

         was pregnancy. There were no possibilities, then, of discrete abortions, no socially sanctioned solutions to problems of this

         kind. And Augusta had become pregnant. There is a poignant, even chilling, poem by Miller which recalls this fact and her

         half-desperate, half-comic attempt to resolve her dilemma – that and her seeming abstraction from her own actions. It tells

         of the time his mother had jumped off a table in order to kill the child she was carrying. Its poignancy comes from the fact

         of the young boy – Arthur – who goes to his room unable to reconcile what he has just seen with the protective mother who

         sits at the same table reading a book. The poem is undated. Was it a product of these stressful years, a pregnancy that ultimately

         came to nothing? Or does it reach back further and was this child Joan, once to be killed in the womb? Miller confirmed the

         accuracy of the event but not the moment it occurred. Either way, it must surely have had an impact on the nature of his relationship

         with a woman willing to dispose of a child with such apparent equanimity or, perhaps, merely resignation.

      


      

      Joan remembers her mother with affection but has characterized her as a snob. ‘She was pretentious, my mother, but she had

         a right to be a snob. She had exquisite taste in everything . . . She set the standard for what was correct and beautiful

         in furnishings.’ Joan herself was brought up not to the life they were now living but the life they had once had, though she

         had been only eight when they moved to Brooklyn. Whatever their straitened circumstances, she was not to wash or dry the dishes,

         clean the sink, do any of the chores. When she offered to do so her mother replied, ‘I want you out of the kitchen. You are

         not to learn how to do this because you are going to marry a rich man and you will have maids.’ As Joan remarks, ‘Who paid

         for it all? My poor husband when we got married.’99


      

      By 1932, the year Miller graduated from Abraham Lincoln High School, their situation was increasingly grim. After the graduation

         ceremony, he recalls running the three miles home along the tree-lined Ocean Parkway worried about what lay ahead. There was a distinct possibility

         that they would lose the house. The $50-a-month mortgage was increasingly difficult to find. They were not, though, alone

         in their problem. Miller knew a businessman who worked in a laundromat and who dealt with his new circumstances by maintaining

         an outward show of confidence, betrayed by the fact that he had begun to speak formulaically. His reply to all questions was

         ‘Well, say.’ In fact this seems to have been the father of his best friend Sidney Franks, the Franks family having originally

         lived in the same Manhattan building as the Millers on 110th Street.

      


      

      The Millers were not poor; they were simply living in a way they had never imagined, unsure whether they could even sustain

         their new lifestyle. The future was as mortgaged as their house. Perhaps that is why, when Miller graduated, no one from the

         family attended the ceremony. It was no longer seen as a stepping stone to further education. He had, anyway, seemingly destroyed

         his hopes through his own dilatoriness. In the play he sketched out in the 1960s but never finished, he confesses that if

         he had paid attention to his work instead of playing football he might have won a scholarship, though, looking back, he realizes

         how unrealistic his ambitions had been. He had toyed with the idea of Cornell (which as late as 1950 was still discriminating

         against Jews in its medical programmes) or Brown University (whose fraternities discriminated on grounds of race and religion

         until the same date), but this was no longer a credible proposition. Nor was it simply a matter of grades. As he later showed,

         there were ways of getting round this problem. The issue was primarily one of money and this deepened the sense of betrayal

         within the family. Not only had they failed to hand the dream on to their son, in the form of the family business, but they

         had failed to give him the education that might have opened up other possibilities. They had failed, most especially, to realize

         the immigrant imperative, to see their children, and especially their sons, do better than them.

      


      

      Many New York Jews who went on to higher education chose the city’s public universities. As Beth S. Wenger has pointed out,

         in the 1930s Jews made up 80–90 per cent of students at City College, Hunter College and Brooklyn College. These, in turn,

         became the site of ideological debate and cultural ambition. They were the breeding ground of the New York intellectuals.

         Unlike Michigan, where Miller would go, these were not campus universities in a college town. The harsh realities of Depression

         New York were a matter of daily experience even if many of the students remained more dedicated to possible careers than to

         transforming society. Ivy League colleges for the most part remained out of reach. A City College magazine included a cartoon

         of a young boy about to be circumcised crying out, ‘Stop! I want to go to Princeton.’100 Miller’s ambitions, though, reached beyond New York, though his family as yet knew nothing of what he had in mind.

      


      

      In so far as identity was a product of economic power and social respect the loss of the former seemed to threaten the latter.

         It was not only the house that became smaller, it was the family. There no longer seemed any basis for hope. As Miller asked,

         ‘What the hell [was] there to hope for?’ Yet at the same time hope remained a cultural imperative: ‘Americans hope even when

         it does not work. You keep the hope alive. That is why the movie industry is always so good.’ Indeed, to his mind it was not

         irrelevant that the movie industry was the product of Jewish immigrants: ‘These guys really believed that you could magically

         transform yourself into anything you could imagine.’ Isidore Miller had lost his faith in that possibility.

      


      

      His son, by contrast, was willing to try his hand at anything, including popular music. He had acquired an agent and went

         for a series of auditions in the cramped back rooms of Tin Pan Alley. Having watched the impact of Rudy Vallee and Bing Crosby

         on the women of the neighbourhood, he saw himself, briefly, entering show business as a crooner. He later remarked, ‘I wanted

         to be a crooner, sure. I wanted to be anything that was going! I had a radio programme, in fact, that I sang on two or three

         times. I had a good tenor voice, and I sang all the latest hits. I had a blind pianist who had a lot of dandruff, and he said,

         “You are the young Al Jolson!” But it got so boring that I stopped doing it after about three times.’101


      

      The family were thrilled by his appearance on this Brooklyn radio programme, not least because he was paid. Remarkably, there

         is a recording of Miller, just turned twenty-six, singing ‘Old Man River’ in an impressive tenor voice. The song was recorded

         in October 1941 when he was in Wilmington, North Carolina, on behalf of the Library of Congress. It is still to be found buried

         in the Library archive. It appears as the equivalent of an out-take on a recording to do with the songs devised by a group

         of women garment workers striking for higher wages. Listening to it, it is tempting to think that perhaps the theatre’s gain

         was the bobbysoxers’ loss.

      


      

      What he really wanted, though, was to go to college and to pursue his interest in literature. His enthusiasm for writing had

         been fired in his final year at high school, when he came across Dostoevsky’s Crime and Punishment (and then The Idiot). It must, he later mused, have been raining too hard to play ball. He picked up the book thinking it to be a detective story

         but quickly found himself absorbed in another world more engrossing than his own. He was inclined to think he might have been

         responding to what it said about family relationships, but beyond that it engaged with causalities which seemed to him significantly

         lacking in the world he observed.

      


      

      Thereafter, despite his various jobs, he spent his time reading, using his subway rides to work his way through Dostoevsky

         and Tolstoy. It was in 1932 that he produced a short story about a failed salesman that in some ways anticipated his later play. It was that year, too, that he wrote a comedy routine, parodying a radio commentator. It consisted

         of little more than a series of nonsensical news items. He sent it to the Major Bowes Amateur Hour and was invited to an audition,

         after which he was approached by a man who claimed to represent the Lord & Thomas Advertising Agency. He handed the man the

         script and, as he later explained, went home to await fame and fortune. Instead, a few weeks later he tuned into the radio

         only to hear his sketch delivered by the comedian Phil Baker, and not as well as he thought he had delivered it himself. He

         was not credited and was never paid. His letters went unanswered. Years later, looking back on this, the first public performance

         of a piece he had written, he suggested that the reason he had turned to writing tragedies was because he thought no one would

         steal one of those. As it happens he was wrong – an avant-garde theatre company later used The Crucible without permission, leading to a threatened legal suit.

      


      

      Decades later, when he was introducing Pablo Neruda at the fiftieth annual PEN birthday dinner, he recalled reading Neruda’s

         poems when he was growing up and being struck by the fact that he was a writer who not only seemed to acknowledge that the

         world was in crisis but evidently thought it the writer’s job to address that fact, to engage history and address power, even

         while remaining true to his own vision.

      


      

      Initially, though, it was Kermit who seemed likely to become a professional writer. Joan recalled him writing poetry. Arthur,

         she had supposed, would become an auto-mechanic since this was where his talents seemed to lie. As Miller described it, ‘Kermit

         was always very romantic about writing. He loved Keats. I never heard him refer to an American poet. It was all British romantic

         poets. He had this flowery writing, nineteenth-century stuff. I could make nothing out of it but in those days I knew nothing

         about anything and didn’t try to make anything of it. But I thought he would be a writer.’102


      

      Kermit, having graduated from Madison High School in 1930,briefly went to New York University, only to drop out, assisting

         his father in one of a number of his attempts to re-establish his coat business. As he himself remarked, ‘The money was a

         problem, just attending school. There were no plans during the Depression . . . When I think back, I was not ambition-driven

         . . . I didn’t have a goal because things were tough . . . Everything was held up . . . We were constantly aware of the fact

         that we had come down.’ Besides, as Joan was to say, ‘somebody had to stay home and keep the family fed’. As the oldest, Kermit

         felt a special responsibility: ‘I felt as though perhaps I could do something. Coming of age, you know . . . So I did what

         I suppose any of us would do. You want to help your people.’103


      

      In his 1960s unfinished play, Miller stages a conversation between himself and Kermit in which his brother decides to abandon

         college to look after his father and freeing his brother to pursue his own ambitions. His speech ends with a stage direction that calls for Kermit to close the book he has been reading ‘forever’. There is a deal of guilt in

         that last stage direction in that Kermit did, indeed, stay while his brother went off to college and became the writer Kermit

         himself had wished to be. Kermit did close the book and became a carpet salesman, and though ultimately he would be a successful

         businessman Miller never ceased to feel guilty about a brother he loved but whom he felt he had in some way betrayed. Once

         again, Kermit had deliberately fallen before the winning line to give precedence to his younger brother.

      


      

      The family, meanwhile, seemed to be drifting. His father continued to struggle, but to no purpose. As Kermit remarked, ‘it

         was terribly tough for him . . . He was uneducated, so he had run the business by hiring other people to take his role, which

         normally he had been able to do. But this was the neck of the Depression; they were terrible days. Until about 1935 you couldn’t

         get a job. It was very tough for lots of people.’ Finances were getting ever more precarious. Where his mother had once had

         $100,000 of her own, invested in the stock market, now she was reduced to selling her jewels, sending Arthur on his bicycle

         to the pawnbrokers at 3rd and 19th Streets, paper bag in hand, a task reminiscent of Charles Dickens, sent on similar errands

         by his mother. Eventually, there were none left to sell.

      


      

      Kermit went to work as a salesman, first for his father and, when the business foundered, for others. When his brother did

         eventually go to university, in 1934, having raised the necessary money himself, he ‘kept going’ because ‘I was the only earner’.104 Later, when the war broke out, Kermit volunteered for the infantry and, following three months’ basic training, became a

         second lieutenant, arranging for his pay to be sent to his parents.

      


      

      In The American Clock Miller replays the scene between himself and his father when he had gathered together college catalogues and explained the

         tuition costs, oblivious to the fact that the family had no money for such ventures: ‘it was a very strange July. I’d graduated

         from high school but nobody was mentioning college anymore.’ ‘I feel so terrible,’ says Rose/Augusta in the play, ‘all these years we were throwing money around, and now when you need it—’ to which Lee/Arthur replies, ‘That’s okay. I think

         I’ll try looking for a job’,105 which is precisely what, out of necessity, Miller did, though his mother was adamant that he should not; adamant, too, that

         he should not sacrifice himself for his father. In his unpublished 1960s play he has Augusta say that it is enough that she

         and her other son have tied their fate to an ignorant man without him doing likewise. It is simultaneously a brutal and a

         desperate speech as she pins all her hopes on a young son whose own escape will constitute the closest she will ever get to

         liberating herself.

      


      

      This may be just a play fragment, written three decades later, but it does reflect his mother’s attitude towards him, her

         sense that he had a special destiny, her almost mystical belief that she could perceive what others could not. The disappointments of her marriage left

         her believing that he could become what she had been denied the possibility of becoming. She saw in him what she did not see

         in the ostensibly more literary Kermit – a drive, an ambition, a commitment to becoming.

      


      

      As Miller had realized, his poor academic record meant that scholarships were out of the question. He had failed algebra repeatedly,

         been expelled from one class and regarded as unpromising material by several other teachers. Later, he was inclined to think

         that his poor school performance reflected his desire not to compete with his illiterate father. There was, however, one possibility.

         He recalled what he had been told of the University of Michigan and its awards for writing, the lowest of which was $250.

         But before he could get there, apart from persuading university officials that they should accept someone with such an unimpressive

         school record, he was required to show evidence of $500 savings, so as not to be a burden on the Michigan taxpayer. He would,

         he knew, have to find a job.

      


      

      What followed was two years of hard work and a further education in the ways of the world as he struggled to find employment

         in the depths of the Depression and, in the process, for virtually the first time, became aware of the anti-Semitism that

         infested New York. He tried for a job at Macy’s but many of those ahead of him in the line had degrees. Scanning the small

         ads in the New York Times, he noticed that certain jobs were designated ‘Gentile’, ‘Chr’ or ‘Protestant’. A firm was ‘Cath’, or the required workers

         were ‘White’. There was, in other words, an alternative map of New York. This was a world in which tribe separated itself

         from tribe and though, with help, he did eventually secure work in an auto parts warehouse, with a company that had originally

         denied it to him, the experience offered an insight into the society he was anxious to join. Nearly sixty years later, when

         a film version of his novel Focus was produced by his son Robert, it was he who suggested that these newspaper ads should be reproduced in an attempt to reconstruct

         the mood of the period.

      


      

      For a few months after graduation from high school Miller had driven a delivery truck for Sam Shapse, the father of a schoolfriend:

         ‘I didn’t have a driver’s licence, but I was driving anyway, because I loved to drive; and I always believed in my luck, that

         I wouldn’t get caught.’ He made pickups from auto parts companies, including Chadick-Delamater. But by the summer of 1932,

         the Shapse firm was in trouble and Miller’s work came to an end. By chance, Chadick was advertising for labour. He applied.

         Nothing happened. When Shapse found out, he was unsurprised, explaining that the company did not employ Jews. Nonetheless,

         he called them and pointed out that, whatever their employment policy, their customers were frequently Jewish. Miller got

         the job, ‘the only Jew they ever hired and the only one they  would’.106 Chadick-Delamater was scarcely aberrant in this respect. Beth S. Wenger has pointed out that ‘the city’s telephone and gas

         companies routinely rejected Jewish applicants. Insurance companies, banks, and law offices also regularly refused to hire

         Jewish workers.’107


      

      Chadick-Delamater, where Miller worked as a stock clerk from 1932 to 1934, was the largest wholesale auto parts warehouse

         east of the Mississippi. Its five floors of bins and shelving contained parts from vehicles dating back twenty years. The

         warehouse was on 63rd Street and Tenth Avenue, where the Metropolitan Opera House now stands, in an area then full of bars

         and boarded-up houses. The job paid fifteen dollars a week and it is a mark of his mother’s attitude to his ambitions to go

         to college that he was allowed to keep the money, sometimes banking all but two dollars of it.

      


      

      The journey to and from work began each morning at six and involved travelling by trolley bus and subway for an hour and twenty

         minutes. At first he tried to combine this with study at the nearby City College: ‘They wrote and told me I was going to be

         taking physics, chemistry and mathematics, none of which I had a prayer of ever learning . . . by the time I got to my classes,

         I was sleeping, and I lasted three weeks. I tallied up, no doubt, the worst academic record ever seen on the continent. So

         I pulled out and decided to save some money.’108


      

      The warehouse personnel were almost exclusively Irish and suspicious of Miller. The back of the building faced a whorehouse

         whose naked inhabitants were at first on display until a newly arrived Irish immigrant insisted on pasting over the windows.

         For the other workers, it was home and security; for Miller, reading Russian novels and the New York Times on the subway ride, it was temporary. Meanwhile, whatever the conditions, no one complained, even when required to work with

         asbestos or dangerous tools. As he described it to me in 2003:

      


      

      

         We cut brakes. Brake lining came in large rolls. It was an asbestos product that was compressed with some other binder. We

            had to cut it to specification and if you twisted the material as it was going through the cutter, the cutter would break.

            The cutter was made of carborundum. Any pressure and it would shatter and spray parts as sharp as broken glass all over the

            place and you just had to duck. We had no masks. You could replace a worker for ten cents. We were unskilled people, so why

            bother?

         


      


      

      Security of employment was everything, ambition not only a luxury but in some way beside the point.


      

      His response to the generalized anti-Semitism was neither shock nor revulsion. This was evidently the way the world operated.

         There were rules to the game but the game was not thereby invalidated. He ‘denied that Wesley Moulter, my boss, hated my presence’,109 as he denied the initial hostility of his fellow workers, simply keeping himself in the background. His own later explanation for that hostility was that they

         feared his intelligence, his application, his ambition and his thrift, taking all these as tokens of his Jewish identity.

      


      

      Miller’s desire to save his money and go to college was seen both as confirming his suspect intellectualism and as a judgement

         on those who squandered their money on more immediate pleasures, though he did squander some of his own, spending three dollars

         buying a bulldog pup which lasted two weeks before eating one of his mother’s chocolate cakes. His time in the auto warehouse

         plant is recalled in an unpublished memoir called ‘Two Years’, written, seemingly, in 1945,and in A Memory of Two Mondays,but the anti-Semitism does not form a part of that play, which is, instead, a gesture towards those who labour with their

         hands without opportunity to escape. It was his feeling of solidarity with them that he recalled, not the alienation he had

         initially experienced. He came to sense that their anti-Semitism was in the end not as important as their contempt for themselves,

         not least because he saw in this the seeds of that political manipulation that would characterize a deadly century.

      


      

      In his autobiography Timebends, he says of this time: ‘I should have exulted in my aloneness and taken heart from Ibsen’s signature line in An Enemy of the People – “He is strongest who is most alone.” But the Jew in me shied from private salvation as something close to sin. One’s truth

         must add its push to the evolution of public justice and mercy, must transform the spirit of the city whose brainless roar

         went on and on at both ends of the bridge’,110 the bridge in question being the Brooklyn Bridge in whose shadow he was later to set A View from the Bridge (though in fact Red Hook, where the play is set, lies two miles further on).

      


      

      Interestingly, James Parker’s 1945 book on anti-Semitism is called An Enemy of the People, a chance echo but also a reminder of the tension Miller was beginning to feel between himself and those who casually dismissed

         what he saw as his kind. In 1936, Fortune magazine would announce that the ‘apprehensiveness of Jews has become one of the important influences in the social life

         of our time’.111 In truth it was not an important influence on Miller who, for the moment, had other and more immediate concerns, but a decade

         later it would lead him to write his novel Focus.


      

      Life at the warehouse was spartan. In the summer the heat was unbearable, while in the winter the radiators were inadequate

         and there were cracks in the building you could see through so that the twenty young women who worked there would wear several

         sweaters and bind their legs in newspapers. It was an experience that convinced him of the drudgery of the lives of working

         people who lived those lives to a deadly rhythm, never glimpsing, never aspiring to and never achieving transcendence. He

         himself dealt with the monotony and depression by writing letters. They were never addressed to anyone in particular, not even, as he would

         later say, to the world. They were simply a way of making sense of what he was seeing and feeling, giving order to what seemed

         the numbing irrelevance of work that meant nothing to him. They were unposted letters to himself.

      


      

      The day he finished in the warehouse was anticlimactic. Most of the women had already left for the day, as had several of

         the men with whom he had worked for two years. He walked over to Broadway and then downtown. He had $512 in the bank, just

         twelve more than he needed to go to Michigan. A week later he was on his way, convinced that he would never go back. Later,

         though, and on a whim, he did return to the warehouse and found the same man he had worked with decades before. He was performing

         the same job, in the same oppressive space, and was indifferent to this effort to reestablish a relationship. Miller remarked

         in 2003, ‘I remembered him – vividly – even that on a freezing December night his wife gave birth in their Jersey City tenement

         under a missing pane in a window which he stuffed with newspaper. His name was Hughie. He had no memory of me.’

      


      

      In 1934 Alfred Kazin, like Miller, was nineteen and catching the El from Brooklyn to Manhattan, though in his case to college

         rather than to work. In the heat of that summer, he combined his reading of Russian literature with an enthusiasm for socialism:

         ‘I was a “Socialist,” like everyone else I knew.’ And why would you not be? ‘Trouble was in the air every day now.’ He listed

         the events of what seemed a critical year:

      


      

      

         Hitler and Mussolini had met in Venice in June. And now Mussolini’s little man Dollfuss, having fulfilled the bosses’ orders

            to destroy Austrian socialism, was in his turn ambushed by the Austrian Nazis and bled to death on the beautifully polished

            floors of the Chancellery in Vienna. That summer, Hindenburg died and Hitler took Germany over completely as ‘Premier-President.’

            That summer, Upton Sinclair won the primary nomination for governor in California on the ‘EPIC’ program – End Poverty In California.

            That summer, the drought got worse and more and more Okies crawled out of the Dust Bowl in their jalopies.112


      


      

      The writers spawned by those times flourished their social credentials. The American author had always sought to validate

         his or her work by reference to lived experience, but now it had the virtue of sounding out in harmony with the times. Kazin

         listed them: Robert Cantwell, who had worked in a plywood factory; James T. Farrell who had been a clerk in an express company

         and a cigar store; Edward Dahlberg, for a time a hobo before going to college; Daniel Fuchs, who had come from one Brooklyn

         slum, and Henry Roth from another, Brownsville, also home to Kazin himself. Meanwhile, Richard Wright had come from a Mississippi tenant farm while John Steinbeck had worked on farms and in a sugar refinery. Nelson Algren

         found employment in a filling station in Texas.113 Arthur Miller, delivery boy, truck driver and warehouseman, already seemed qualified for the career he had privately decided

         on. That he should write his way through college seemed in tune with a period in which others were writing their way out of

         unemployment.

      


      

      Kazin quickly found his way into the New York literary world, where Malcolm Cowley was a key figure, wedding radical politics

         to an enthusiasm for modernism, in a way that would prove so attractive to those drawn to Partisan Review and the New Republic. It was a world with a proliferation of political groupings. Again, Kazin listed them: ‘Norman Thomas Socialists, old-time

         Social Democrats, Austro-Marxists, Communists who were Stalinist centrists, Trotskyite leftists, Lovestoneite right-wingers,

         Musteites and Fieldites; Zionists who were Progressive Labor Zionists, left Socialist Zionists and Religious Zionists’. He

         himself believed in socialism, ‘if not in the savage proletarian exclusiveness of the Communists at this time – before the

         growing power of Hitler and the Spanish Civil War induced a united front’. He thought of socialism ‘simply as a moral idea,

         an invocation of History in its righteous sweep’.114 Miller never moved in those circles. His subway rides took him from a family home in which radical politics was seen as a

         threat, to a warehouse in which reading books and the New York Times was regarded as eccentric and suspect. His Marxism, though, was like Kazin’s socialism, a moral idea.

      


      

      Irving Howe (from the Bronx rather than Brooklyn, and from a family who laboured in the garment industry rather than employing

         others who did), like Miller, bought his New York Times as an earnest of his seriousness. He, like Miller, was drawn to Marxism because it seemed to render the world into his hands,

         to provide a language, functioning metaphors, an emotional and seemingly intellectual kinship with others who might otherwise

         feel deracinated and alone. It was the source of a displaced passion, as religion might have been for an earlier generation.

         It was a trade of faith for hope. And interestingly, given Miller’s subsequent career, Howe chooses to explain his new loyalties

         in terms of drama:

      


      

      

         Marxism advances a profoundly dramatic view of human experience. Its stress upon inevitable conflicts, apocalyptic climaxes,

            inevitable doom, and glorious futures gripped our imagination. We were always on the rim of heroism; the mockery we might

            suffer today would turn to glory tomorrow; our loyalty to principle would be rewarded by the grateful masses. The principle

            of classical drama – peripeteia, or the reversal of fortune – we stood on its head, quite as Marx was supposed to have done

            to Hegel. The moment of transfiguration would come, if we only held firm to our sense of destiny. A movement that raises in the imagination of its followers the vision of historical drama must find ways of realizing the

            dramatic in the course of its history.115


      


      

      It is tempting to see something of Miller’s attraction for the theatre as lying precisely in the inner structure of a form

         that turned on transformations, a social art in which individual lives were integrated not only in a public forum but in the

         processes of art itself. A privately consumed poem or novel lacked the significance of a shared event. The temporal limits

         of drama conveyed the urgency of a process that rushed to conclusion, that relied on revelation, on thought and language transmuted

         into action.

      


      

      For the moment, though, not yet in college, he was not part of the ‘tireless virtuosi who threw radical arguments at each

         other morning, noon and night’,116 never fully embraced that alliance with modernism which for many others was the sign that their aesthetic radicalism matched

         their political convictions. He was fiercely focused on getting to Michigan, sending pleading letters to excuse his poor high

         school grades as he banked his wages. On the other hand, there was a politics of the street. In Brooklyn, Italian businesses

         often placed photographs of Mussolini in their front windows. He saw the unemployed sitting on front stoops, listened to the

         speakers in Union Square (where the Communist Party had its headquarters and the Jewish communist newspaper Der Freiheit had its offices) denouncing the failures of capitalism and arguing the virtues of their own ideologies.

      


      

      By the end of the century, things would have changed in Union Square. Politics had gone, to be replaced by a farmers’ market.

         That sense of a gap between the strenuous commitments of the 1930s – strident, felt rather than thought – and the domesticated

         and private concerns of a society committed to merely material advancement was to generate the energy behind many of his plays,

         that sense of a missing transcendence.

      


      

      His own brief primer in Marxism may have been something of a private epiphany, leading him neither to join with others in

         political action nor, like Kazin, to find his way into New York’s literary circles, but when he set out for Michigan he was

         already convinced that he held a key to history and an explanation for the failure that had brought his father down. He did

         have a vision of absolute justice and rhapsodic social living, and if they were not accessible in a country that had once

         prided itself on its utopian principles, there was another place where a new great experiment was being conducted. It was

         taking place in the Europe from which his father had once journeyed in hope of a new life.

      


      

      Money was not the only problem facing Miller in getting to the University of Michigan. His father had other plans, and Miller

         recalled their conversation in After the Fall: ‘What the hell are you talking about? We’re just getting a business started again. I need him! . . . when I was your age I was supporting six people!’ In the play, as in life, it is

         his mother who supports him, thus further opening the breach between his parents and adding to the burden of his guilt. Quentin’s

         remarks in that play are surely not far from Miller’s own feelings: ‘I felt a power, in the going . . . and treason in it.

         Because there’s failure, and you turn your back on failure.’ It was a burden lifted from him by his brother, who, having dropped

         out of college, now planned to stay around because ‘I just want to see him [his father] big again.’117


      

      This was precisely the situation with respect to Miller’s brother Kermit, and the scene is effectively reprised in another

         of Miller’s plays in which two brothers look back to the 1930s, The Price. Here, too, one brother stays while the other leaves and prospers, and Miller would return in memory, and in his plays, to

         this moment when he turned his back on his family, their past, their values, and pursued the education his mother had been

         denied, a mother who, like Quentin, he could never finally mourn.

      


      

      In his first play, No Villain, written, he claimed (others placed it later), less than a year after leaving home, he offered a portrait of his family life

         and of the tensions he was escaping in going to university, confessing that his brother’s decision had set him free. ‘I’m

         a lucky fellow to be able to go off without having to support you here. There are fellows who even send money home from school

         let alone make their way. You’ve got to get out and on top and look down, and see, see what one thing is worth against another.’118


      

      Speaking in 2001, Miller acknowledged that he had been able to go to Michigan because, as the second son, he was ‘blessed

         with having no expectations. My poor brother was supposed to carry the load. It was he who was the responsible party. I was,

         early on, regarded as a hopeless case as far as any kind of responsibility was concerned. Consequently, I always felt free

         to do whatever it was that I wanted to do.’ But, in going to Michigan, he left Kermit behind: ‘at the time I felt terrible

         about it, because Kermit had gone to NYU for about a year and he was a pretty good student, while I, of course, was a dreadful

         student in the early part of my life. It was he who should have been going to university, not me, because I was too stupid.

         So it was unjust, but I didn’t resign my position.’ He recalled the moment he parted with his brother:

      


      

      

         I remember when I first went to Michigan I got on a bus somewhere in Manhattan. The fare was eleven dollars and at the last

            moment Kermit went with me to say goodbye as I went into the Wild West, because people didn’t travel around the way they do

            now. At the last moment he gave me his hat, which was a very good one. He loved hats. I never wore a hat but I took this.

            I kept it for about three years and I was hitch-hiking back and was somewhere in New York State, having come across Canada

            to Buffalo, from Detroit, taking Route 17 toward the city, and I got dropped off next to a beautiful field of grain. A car stopped and I ran down the

            road and the hat blew off and I didn’t go back to get it. It blew into the field.119


      


      

      The hat and the guilt seemed to come together in his memory.


      

      In many ways, though, it appeared to Miller that his brother’s hopes were destroyed by a misplaced loyalty. He was increasingly

         convinced that his father had wilfully exploited a decent and honest man. As for himself, at the time he felt no sense of

         obligation. He was following a trajectory of his own and, indeed, had been doing so long before the collapse of the family

         fortune: ‘I always felt to one side of the family. I had my own career from the time I was six years old. I had my own space,

         psychologically. Kermit was totally occupied by them. He was the man they relied on to carry on.’

      


      

      In 2007, Kermit’s son Ross added another detail: ‘My father and uncle agreed that since Arthur had gotten into Michigan (a

         miracle by all accounts) he should go. The following year Arthur would stay home and work and my father would go back to NYU.

         When Arthur did so well in his first year at school my father insisted that he continue.’120


      

      Had the business survived, Kermit would have run it and did, indeed, help in his father’s various abortive efforts to begin

         again. It never occurred to Miller to make a similar sacrifice. ‘I formed my nature to reinforce what I wanted to do, which

         was to have my own career. I had nothing but the greatest regard for Kermit. He was responsible, and I wasn’t.’121 Kermit had managed to be a businessman while holding to Marxist ideals, a combination that slightly baffled Miller but which

         he nonetheless respected, as he did the integrity of a man who accepted responsibilities which he, himself, could not. On

         the other hand he thought that his brother now paid the price of doing so. Kermit was noble but also naive. His father was

         vulnerable but also manipulative. The future for Miller could only lie elsewhere. Rationally, he knew he had to leave his

         family behind. Emotionally, it felt like desertion and, in later years, he would recall his parents’ lives in the 1930s with

         a mixture of affection and pity.

      


      

      On a summer evening, the meal over, his mother would read the newspaper Isidore had brought back from the city, the newspaper

         he himself could barely decipher. She would sit almost motionless, reading of European royal families or the rise of Hitler

         and twisting her hair in the through breeze, front and back doors standing open. She had, he remembered, a habit of moving

         her lower jaw forward as she read.

      


      

      On the back porch, meanwhile, cooling down from the heat of the city, sat his father, staring blankly ahead into the yard

         as he had once been able to look out from his Harlem apartment over a city of which he could imagine himself a prominent citizen.

         The tide of time had retreated and left them, at least in Miller’s memory, stranded on the beach. Now, looking back, Miller felt a trace of regret for two people whose hopes

         had been betrayed and who, while still respecting one another’s goodness, never again found in one another the comfort and

         security they sought.
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